Coastal Carolina University

CCU Digital Commons

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

College of Graduate and Continuing Studies

5-1-2023

Workplace Factors That Contribute to Teacher Intent to Leave the **Profession**

Teresa Blount Gibbons Coastal Carolina University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd



Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

Recommended Citation

Gibbons, Teresa Blount, "Workplace Factors That Contribute to Teacher Intent to Leave the Profession" (2023). Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 165.

https://digitalcommons.coastal.edu/etd/165

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Graduate and Continuing Studies at CCU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CCU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact commons@coastal.edu.

Workplace Factors That Contribute to Teacher Intent to Leave the Profession

by

Teresa Blount Gibbons

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of Coastal Carolina University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Education with a specialization in Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment.

Education Sciences and Organizations

Coastal Carolina University

May 2023

Doctoral Committee:

Dr. Anthony Setari, Chair

Dr. Amanda Darden

Dr. Austin Hitt

Copyright © Teresa Blount Gibbons 2023

All Rights Reserved

Abstract

There is a nationwide shortage of qualified teachers, with 90% of all teacher shortages caused by teacher attrition (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2019). This study surveyed public school K-12 teachers in South Carolina to gain an understanding of workplace factors that contribute to teacher intentions to quit/ teacher attrition. The current design measures teacher stress perceptions of workplace factors as the relational theoretical lens to determine teacher intention to leave or likelihood of attrition. The results of a study suggest that student stressors and workload are the most important factors in teacher attrition. A qualitative analysis of student stressors found that student behavior was closely tied to administrator support, student motivation, and technology. COVID-19 has had a significant influence on student motivation, leading to behavioral and academic concerns. 84% of teachers and administrators reported lower morale levels than prior to COVID-19, in large part due to decreased student engagement, adding that they are more likely to leave teaching or retire early since working during the pandemic (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021). Inconsistency of administrative discipline policies can also lead to increased teacher stress. Excessive workload is leading to emotional exhaustion and desire to leave the profession (Toropova et al., 2020). This study found workload is the second most stressful daily challenge often leading to mental exhaustion and anxiety. School leaders must recognize the importance of teachers' professional and personal wellbeing on job satisfaction to prevent burnout, resignations, and early retirement (Van der Vyver et al., 2020).

Keywords: mixed-methods, grounded theory, teacher attrition, stress, workplace factors, student stressors, workload, administrator support, COVID-19

Table of Contents

Abstract3
Chapter One: Introduction
Background8
Problem Statement
Nature of the Study13
Research Questions
Definition of Terms14
Significance16
Theoretical Framework
Assumptions, Limitations, Delimitations
Summary24
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Teacher Attrition
Stress30
COVID-19 and School Structure31
Workload34
Motivation and Job Satisfaction36
Student Stressors
Administrative Supports40
Professional Investment

Personal Health	44
Theoretical Framework	46
Chapter 3: Methodology	49
Overview/Research Questions	49
Research Design	49
Participants/Sampling	53
Instrument Development	55
Data Analysis	59
Chapter 4: Results	62
Overview	62
Participant Demographics	64
Data Analysis	69
Workplace Factor Correlation	69
Regression Analysis	72
Qualitative Coding and Theme Development	73
Themes	74
Summary	88
Chapter 5: Discussion, Recommendations, and Conclusions	90
Overview	90
Limitations of the Study	92
Interpretation of Findings	93

Implications	100
Recommendations for Actions	102
Recommendations for Further Study	109
Conclusion	110
References	112
Appendices	133
Appendix A: Organizational Approval Letter	133
Appendix B: Teacher Stress Inventory	134
Appendix C: Frequencies of Likert Responses	141
List of Tables	
Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of Respondents	65
Table 2. Job Search.	67
Table 3. Demographic Variable Correlation	68
Table 4. Construct Item Means	70
Table 5. Workplace Factor Construct Regression	72
Table 6. Workplace Factor Construct Regression Model Summary	73
Table 7. Student Stressors Regression	75

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my humble gratitude for the support of my chair, Dr. Anthony Setari, and my committee members, Dr. Austin Hitt and Dr. Amanda, who pushed me to achieve more than I thought I could. I have valued your feedback and encouragement.

I would like to acknowledge three amazing women, mentors, and friends, without whom my life may have taken a different path. Mary Jo taught me to have confidence and believe in myself; Debbie taught me a job worth doing was worth doing well; and Amanda helped me to find the courage to follow my dreams.

Most importantly, I want to thank my husband Patrick and my children, Jesse and Walker. You have always been there, supporting, and encouraging me in whatever I do. You are the reason I strive to be a better person and a role model.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Teachers cite wanting to make a difference, working with young people, a love of the subject, and inspiration by their own teacher(s) as the top reasons they entered the profession (Perryman & Calvert, 2019). There is a mismatch between teacher personal goals and aspirations and the reality of the job demands and expectations that lead to demotivation (Williams, 2017). Approximately 40% of teachers who left their positions voluntarily, surveyed before and during the COVID-19 pandemic, blamed stress and "disappointments of teaching" as a factor in their decision to quit (Diliberti et al., 2021). Early career teachers in particular can face an identity conflict between "preservice expectations and in-service realities" (LaTronica-Herb & Karalis Noel, 2022, p. 2). The disconnect between personal motivators and reality cause stress, which can lead to teacher attrition.

High stress levels have been cited as one of the main reasons 25% to 50% of teachers quit within the first five years (Algozzine et al., 2011). Each year, teachers vacate positions with fewer new teachers to fill those vacancies. Enrollments in Teacher Preparation Programs (TPP) remained relatively constant in the 1990s and 2000s, but since 2008 there has been a 35% decline in TPP completers (Ramos & Hughes, 2020; Will, 2022). The negative net production of teachers graduating from traditional TPPs is a national concern; however, this study will focus only on South Carolina.

Teacher attrition tends to vary by region; the southern United States has a higher turnover rate than the rest of the country (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). Nationally, the teacher turnover rate is around 15%, with the South averaging around 17% (Williams et al., 2021). South Carolina is representative of the southeastern United States in culture and population. Surveying

teachers in South Carolina provides data that may give insight that can be applied on a broader scale. Approximately 6,900 of South Carolina teachers employed in the 2020-2021 school year did not return to a teaching position in the same district for the 2021-2022 school year (Garrett, 2021). Of the new teachers hired to fill some of those vacancies, only 22% were recent graduates of a formal teacher education program in the State of South Carolina (Garrett, 2021).

Teacher vacancies have compounded since COVID-19; South Carolina school districts reported 1,063 vacant positions in October 2021. This is a 52% increase from the previous year, and the largest number of vacancies since the South Carolina Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement (CERRA) began reporting this data in 2001 (CERRA, 2021). The data suggest that, while teacher retention has historically been an issue, something has exacerbated the teacher exodus over the last two years; this time frame coincides with the unprecedented changes to the educational system and structure due to COVID-19.

In several national polls during the 2020-2021 school year, 20-47% of teachers responded they were considering quitting or early retirement (Antonucci, 2021). The COVID-19 school shutdowns and subsequent reopenings necessitated sudden changes to daily instruction. The uncertainty of policies and changing guidelines called for variations of socially distanced classrooms, hybrid teaching models, and completely virtual models of instruction (Pressley & Learn, 2021). These sudden changes resulted in an increased workload with insufficient training, leading to higher levels of stress (Chan et al., 2021). A survey prior to the COVID-19 pandemic revealed that 1 out of 7 teachers had never used digital media to teach (Ferran, 2022). An additional survey of 106 school districts around the country found that just over half of them provided training for teachers to teach remotely in the summer before the 2020-2021 school year, even though the majority of schools opened using a virtual model of instruction (Ferran, 2022).

These instructional changes redefined normal teacher workload and may have also led to other challenges.

In addition to new instructional pedagogies and technological shifts, teachers were also faced with the challenge of student attendance and engagement in virtual and hybrid platforms (Pressley & Learn, 2021). The day-to-day uncertainty and increased workload may have caused "diminished professional functioning" resulting from high levels of stress in the new environment (Chan et al., 2021, p. 533). All these factors may have contributed to increased attrition or intent to leave. Nearly half of the public-school teachers who left their jobs after the 2020-2021 school year began blamed longer work hours, technical problems, and difficulty working in the remote setting (Diliberti et al., 2021).

Even before the COVID-19 pandemic caused major changes to educational systems, teacher turnover was high. Teacher attrition is a national challenge for the educational system, with turnover being the highest in the Southern United States (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Diliberti et al., 2021; Ingersoll, 2001). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated an already serious problem, with more teachers reporting increased stress levels and more frequent considerations of leaving the profession (Zammarro et al., 2022).

Problem Statement

Teachers experience higher levels of stress than members of other occupations (Jepson & Forrest, 2006). This is important when considering that educator emotional distress has been connected to reductions in teacher responsiveness and professional commitment (Buettner et al., 2016). The historic disruption teachers experienced as schools shut down and adjusted to the COVID-19 pandemic guidelines created an environment of uncertainty that had a profound

impact on teachers. Schools experiencing staffing shortages since the pandemic have teachers reporting they are more stressed than ever before (Will, 2022).

When schools were shut down due to the COVID-19 pandemic, teachers no longer had the normal social supports of their colleagues. Working in isolation from home, no longer face-to-face with their peers or students, teachers were suddenly challenged to adapt lessons for the new environment. This shift required them to learn new technology and/or pedagogies quickly with little instruction or help from colleagues. Teachers "experienced the single most traumatic and transformative event of the modern era" (Kaden, 2020, p. 165). The emotional effects of such a drastic and sudden change to school structure placed unique stressors on teachers with unforeseen consequences, given that stress has been found to be a contributing factor to decisions to leave the classroom (Greiner & Smith, 2006).

During the COVID-19 school closures, teachers were cut off from their Professional Learning Communities (PLC). Research shows that teachers are more likely to stay in a school setting in which they experience positive relationships with their peers (Farmer, 2020). Collegial supports and relationships are important considerations in teacher attrition, especially among new teachers (Burke et al., 2013). The new instructional models and disconnectedness from colleagues may have had a negative impact on teacher resiliency, as professional development opportunities, shared decision making, and "caring collegial relationships" have been found to support teacher resilience (Richards et al., 2016).

The underlying reasons why teachers actually leave the profession may be difficult to determine. Negative teacher-administrator relationships lead to teacher reluctance to full disclosure of the reasons they decide to leave. Some teachers have reported workplace bullying by administrators with perceived mistreatment including being ignored, not being supported, and

receiving "unfair" evaluations (Orange, 2020). In South Carolina, the majority of exit surveys allow for instinct responses exemplified by items like "because of other factors not included elsewhere" or "because of other personal life reasons" (SC-Teacher, 2021). Anecdotal evidence indicates that teachers often select "personal reasons" as a default to avoid retaliation or negative consequences (Garrett, 2021). This makes it difficult to determine exactly what teachers are feeling that causes them to leave jobs they spent a lot of time and money to prepare for and may have invested many years of their life doing.

Teachers report many reasons for leaving the profession, ranging from a lack of administrative and parent support, unmotivated students, school violence, and unrealistic workload (Farber, 2010). Despite financial incentives like higher salary or bonuses, research indicates that teachers continue to leave due to stressful environments (Adamson & Darling-Hammond, 2011). Teacher shortages are most often discussed from a financial deficit perspective; only recently have researchers begun to examine other factors like job satisfaction and working conditions as prominent reasons for teacher attrition (Ramos & Hughes, 2020; Sutcher et al., 2016). Teacher perceptions of various workplace factors and stress as well as the additional effects of COVID-19 are essential components of teacher intention to stay in or leave the profession.

The unintended consequences of the COVID-19 shutdowns may be contributing to teacher job dissatisfaction. Currently, all South Carolina teachers complete an exit survey when they leave a teaching position. However, those surveys are inconsistent and vary from district to district. A pilot of a common exit survey in five South Carolina school districts indicates that COVID-19 itself did not add to teacher attrition, but rather, it amplified stress and frustrations

leading to high levels of burnout (SC-Teacher, 2021). As schools return to a new post-COVID normal, it is imperative that teacher attrition be addressed.

Examining the strength and significance of teacher's perceived stress levels as related to various workplace factors will allow the researcher to identify specific workplace conditions that may increase the likelihood of teacher intent to leave the profession. The purpose of this study is to determine how specific workplace factors such as workload, motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic), student concerns, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, and job satisfaction contribute to teacher intention to leave the profession and/or attrition.

Nature of the Study

Understanding how teacher stress manifests can provide clues to the underlying reasons why teachers leave the classroom. Teacher attrition has many nuanced causes that are not easily explained with one theoretical framework; therefore, the data must be allowed to form a grounded theory that fully captures the complexity of the issue. Identifying underlying causes of teacher stress could lead to pragmatic solutions and have a meaningful impact on teacher retention.

This research study will be an adapted convergent mixed methods study using data collected from a teacher concerns survey instrument. This study will follow an explanatory design model as independent and dependent variable data will be collected simultaneously (Creswell, 2018). Both quantitative and qualitative data will be collected using Likert scale stress items and open-ended responses. This will provide the opportunity to determine quantitative patterns that can be further explained by the qualitative responses.

This study will seek to determine how specific workplace factors contribute to teacher intention to leave the profession and/or attrition. To gain full understanding of the issue, the research will be focused on the following questions:

- 1. What is the relationship between workplace environmental factors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and teacher stress?
- 2. How do workplace environmental stressors influence teacher attrition (intent to leave the profession)?
- 3. How do intrinsic and extrinsic factors influence teacher stress level?

Definition of Terms

South

According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2021), the South refers to a geographic region of the United States made up of: Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, North Carolina, South Carolina, Virginia, West Virginia, Alabama, Kentucky, Mississippi and Tennessee, Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and Texas.

Stress

A physiological or psychological response to internal or external stimuli; stress affects almost all bodily systems and influences how people feel and act (APA, n.d.). Stress can also be defined as an unpleasant experience connected to environmental factors causing feelings of anxiety, anger, and/or frustration (Kyriacou, 2001).

Occupational Stress

"The harmful physical and emotional responses that occur when the requirements of the job do not match the capabilities, resources, or needs of the worker." (NIOSH, 2022).

Teacher Stress

Includes the specific context of the school setting. Teacher stress is dependent upon environmental interactions between the individual and environment influenced by social and institutional support factors (Jarvis, 2002; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Saeki et al., 2018).

Toxic Stress

When "demands consistently outpace ability to cope" resulting in dissociation often ending in burnout (Aguilar, 2018).

Burnout

An extreme form of prolonged workplace stress that can lead to physical and emotional exhaustion and feelings of ineffectiveness, on the context of this study. Burnout is identified by three negative thought process domains: feelings of energy depletion or exhaustion causing mental distancing from the job, feelings of negativism or cynicism related to one's job, and reduced professional efficacy (WHO, 2019).

Teacher Attrition

When teachers leave the profession (Ryan et al., 2017). This study will use teacher intention to quit as an indicator of teacher attrition, in part due to difficulty locating teachers who have left the profession. Other research indicates that teacher intentions to leave are directly related to likelihood of attrition (Madigan & Kim, 2021).

Job Satisfaction

A positive emotional state resulting from an individual's appreciation of their job. Job satisfaction has several facets including work demands, compensation, working conditions, self-esteem, and relationships (Locke, 1976).

Professional Well-being

An individual's perception of job qualities, including self-efficacy and job satisfaction (Van der Vyver et al., 2020).

Well-being

The state of being psychologically, physically, and emotionally healthy (Van der Vyver et al., 2020).

Intrinsic Motivators

Factors that tend to expand capacity and engagement stemming from internal feelings of interest or satisfaction (Di Domenico & Ryan, 2017).

Extrinsic Motivators

Factors that engage people in an activity for compensation, tangible reward, or avoidance of a consequence (Di Domenico & Ryan, 2017).

Significance of the Study

Teacher attrition leaves vacancies, and when vacancies are not filled immediately, they can create shortages. Teacher workforce instability has serious consequences that hinders student learning (Garcia & Weiss, 2019). Teacher attrition affects student achievement (Barnes et al., 2007), and educator stress has been shown to have negative effects on learning outcomes (Buettner et al., 2016). In addition, constant teacher turnover reduces teacher effectiveness and

overall quality (Ronfelt et al., 2013). This is significant when considering that student achievement is most impacted by the quality of teachers (Darling-Hammond & Youngs, 2002).

There is a direct correlation between teacher vacancies and student achievement (Dickenson et al., 2021). Instructional quality and student well-being is directly related to teacher well-being; therefore, it is important to understand the consequences of traumatic events, like COVID-19, on teacher stress and job satisfaction (Seyle et al., 2013; Sharifian & Kennedy, 2019). Failing to retain teachers by ignoring their emotional well-being may further exacerbate the problem of teacher attrition. Supporting teacher mental health leads to successful learning outcomes and higher achievement (Kaden, 2020). Teacher attrition also affects the teachers who choose to remain in the classroom. Fewer teachers can lead to larger classes or the elimination of certain classes altogether (Socol & Metz, 2017). This can result in lower teacher morale due to increased workload to fill the gaps vacancies leave behind.

In South Carolina, rural and/or high poverty school districts tend to have more vacancies than urban and/or low poverty schools (Dickenson et al., 2021). This is consistent with other research that claims there are higher teacher attrition rates in schools with lower socioeconomic status (Hughes, 2012). Results from a three-year study show that high-poverty schools (including elementary, middle, and high) had the lowest teacher retention rates in South Carolina (Fan, 2020). Fewer teachers lead to vacancies that may affect access to quality education. Research indicates that low-income and/or students of color often do not receive consistent, high-quality teaching compared to white and/or high-income students (Socol & Metz, 2017). Schools with staffing shortages due to teacher attrition and resultant vacancies may have to limit the number and types of course offerings without qualified teachers to teach them. Because low-income communities are disproportionately affected by teacher vacancies in South Carolina, this could

lead to educational inequities (McVey et al., 2019). The strain placed on teachers and students by teacher turnover can negatively affect teacher-student relationships as well.

The foundation of the educational system rests on the bonds formed between the teacher and student, becoming the central relationship in education (Steiner, 2009). As students get older, success in school can be directly attributed to teacher-student relationships (Ansari, 2020). Teacher-student relationships include both positive and negative interactions. When students feel supported and understood by their teachers, they are more likely to achieve academically; reciprocally, if students experience negative interactions, achievement and sense of belonging decrease (McGrath & Van Bergen, 2015). These relationships are built upon the behaviors and characteristics of both the teacher and student (Ansari, 2020). Teacher stress can lead to teacher behaviors that negatively affect student learning and access to curriculum (Dove, 2004; Kaplan & Owings, 2004) such as burnout and absenteeism (Evers et al., 2014).

School climate was impacted by the structural uncertainties due to COVID-19 shutdowns, and re-openings exacerbated already high teacher stress levels (Herman et al., 2021). Sources of teacher stress include school organization, job demands, work resources, and social and emotional interactions (Hayden et al., 2018). When schools across the country shut down, no one knew how long they would remain closed. This was followed by sudden shift to online platforms with little preparation and training. Typical classroom management skills used in traditional settings were no longer effective in online settings (Herman et al., 2021). As school re-openings began, teachers were tasked with increased bureaucratic tasks that had excessive time demands. The climate created by COVID-19 exerted a physical and mental toll on teachers as a result of the disruptions and restructuring of conventional school systems and structures (Kaden, 2020).

Constant teacher turnover not only affects student achievement, relationships, and school climate, but it also incurs additional financial burdens for schools who must continually recruit and train new teachers (Barnes et al., 2007). A report from the Learning Policy Institute estimates that the average cost of filling a teacher vacancy is \$21,000, with the total cost of turnover nearing \$8 billion a year (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017). These funds could be better spent to support student and teacher needs through program or school improvements.

In addition to financial drains, teacher attrition can lead to a reduction in teacher quality. Teacher attrition affects teacher quality and student success, unnecessarily consuming financial resources that could improve teacher efficacy and student learning (National Commission on Teaching, 2007). Losing large numbers of early-career teachers and constantly training new teachers can result in a loss of teacher effectiveness. Teacher quality has been found to improve with experience, leading some to say that high turnover rates are costing the education system "half of all teachers before they reach their peak effectiveness" (National Commission on Teaching, 2007, p. 4). Teacher attrition affects student achievement, school climate, and results in increased financial cost to schools and districts (Barnes et al., 2007; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017; Garcia & Weiss, 2019).

Theoretical Framework

This study will apply a constructivist grounded theory approach in which the researcher will seek to fill in critical gaps of understanding on teacher stress and how that influences intent to leave the profession or teacher attrition. The grounded theory will be generated from a paradigm of constructivism using a mixed-methods approach. Assumptions associated with this worldview seek to gain understanding of a phenomena using the subjective perceptions of

participants. This method will result in research that will broaden understanding from the data, rather than from a specific theoretical lens (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018; Denzin, 2009). To study this phenomenon, this research will use various stress models and motivational frameworks as the conceptual viewpoint to build a grounded theory on the root causes of teacher attrition.

Stress Models

The amount of job stress is dependent upon the strength of workplace demands and the individual's perceived input or "decision making latitude" when dealing with them (Gallup, 2022). Stress is dependent upon the individual; it varies from person to person based on one's ability to cope and manage situations perceived as "stressful" (NIOSH, 2022). Occupational stress can be categorized into a subjective component, relating to individual capacity and the objective component referring to work related environmental factors (Andela, & van der Doef, 2019). Although often used to describe how one feels, stress itself is not a specific emotion. Rather, it is an emotional state that can include a variety of emotions.

Several stress models use workplace environmental factors as a measure of stress level. The Institute for Social Research (ISR) model for organizational stress categorizes and measures organizational stress using six factors: the objective environment, the psychological environment, mental and physical health and disease, enduring properties of the person, and interpersonal relations (Katz & Kahn, 1978). The McGrath (1976) model is a four-stage model of occupational stress based on employee perceptions and responses to the workplace environment, including cognitive appraisal, decision making, performance, and outcomes.

The Person-Environment (P-E) Fit Model examines the interaction between the person and the situation. If an employee's skills and abilities do not match environmental demands, an imbalance can occur. This means that the person and the environment are not a good fit, which could result in unmet personal needs, resulting in stress that may affect job performance (Jex, 1998). According to the P-E fit framework, a fit between the environment and individual will result in positive outcomes such as job satisfaction, whereas a mismatch has negative consequences often resulting in job dissatisfaction and burnout (Andela, & van der Doef, 2019).

Teacher-Motivation Mismatch

In order to understand why teachers leave their jobs, it is also necessary to understand their motivation for entering the teaching profession. When applied to the workplace, the motivation-hygiene theory quantifies job satisfaction by examining which workplace factors cause satisfaction or dissatisfaction. Factors like salary and benefits are important considerations when considering a career. These are classified as hygiene factors or potential dissatisfiers; they are extrinsic and include organizational policies, working conditions, and salary (Herzberg et al., 1959). Motivators, however, are intrinsic in nature and correlate to higher levels on Maslow's hierarchy of needs. Knowledge workers like teachers are motivated by intrinsic rewards or what Maslow's hierarchy of needs classifies as "growth needs," such as the desire for esteem and self-actualization. However, these intrinsic motivators cannot be attained when the extrinsic, more rudimentary supports are not present or have a negative impact.

To help mitigate teacher attrition, it is necessary to examine school-based structures, or hygiene factors, including compensation, number of classes to prepare, planning, duties, and treatment by administrators to identify specific causes (Aguilar, 2018). Ineffective management

policies are the most frequent sources of dissatisfaction and weak management generates dissatisfaction and creates demoralization in the school and district (Brazer et al., 2019).

Context

The daily physical, mental, and cognitive expectations and responsibilities of teachers were completely upended when COVID-19 forced nationwide school closures. Teachers had to adapt to a completely new educational setting through remote learning with little preparation (Hodges et al., 2020). With no warning, classroom teachers were expected to learn new technology, curricula, and pedagogy all at once. Many teachers were suddenly thrust into the world of online learning, with little to no experience with this learning modality; they reported that all aspects of planning, instruction, and assessment were more challenging and made them feel less effective and unsuccessful (Huck & Zhang, 2021).

The established goals and priorities for the individual teacher and school suddenly no longer existed. Teachers had no input or understanding of the decision-making process. The Karasek Job Demand-Control Model identified the most stressful workplaces as those in which an employee does not have the ability to participate in decision making (Riley, 2007, Van der Doef & Maes, 1999;). As teachers return to the new normal following the COVID-19 educational disruption, studies are needed to determine how teachers are adapting to the new environmental factors and how these interactions may be leading to negative outcomes as evidenced through the increasing numbers of teacher vacancies in South Carolina classrooms (Kaden, 2020).

Assumptions, Delimitations, and Limitations

The study provides information on the correlation between school-based environmental factors and stress levels, and how that translates to teacher attrition. This study broadens our understanding of what motivates teachers to leave their present positions or the profession altogether. It is assumed that all research participants will respond in an honest and forthright manner, as survey data will be completely anonymous and any identifying information will be kept confidential.

Data was collected from South Carolina K-12 public school teachers employed during academic years 2018-2019, 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021-2022. This included individuals who were teaching in public schools before, during, and after the COVID-19 pandemic school shutdowns. These academic years were studied to determine if environmental factors related to organizational changes both during and after the COVID-19 pandemic impacted teacher stress levels and job satisfaction. The survey included questions to obtain demographic information including age, gender, number of years teaching, subject, and grade level taught.

The present study had several limitations. Not only were all participants from one state in the United States, but the survey itself was distributed statewide to members of a state teacher organization. Not all South Carolina public school teachers are members of the Palmetto State Teachers Association (PSTA) and there is a membership fee. This limited the scope of the study. Therefore, the delivery method itself may have inadvertently selected a population with similar viewpoints. There is a possibility that response bias occurred, as teachers that chose to respond may have differing perceptions than the general population of teachers. Further research with a broader sample may increase the generalizability of the findings.

The validity and reliability of the survey instrument used in the current research could qualify as a limitation. The survey instrument was created by adapting items from Fimian's

(1988) Teacher Stress Inventory (TSI). The TSI consists of 63 items using a six-point Likert scale. The TSI is used to assess the areas of personal/professional stressors, professional distress, discipline and motivation, emotional manifestations, biobehavioral manifestations, and physiological-fatigue manifestations (Fimian, 1984; Weinstein & Trickett, 2016). Upon review of the TSI, several constructs identified in prior research were directly related to the constructs in the TSI. As a result, the two instruments were merged to create an updated Teacher Stress Survey that kept the original TSI survey format and several of the constructs to strengthen the validity and reliability of the instrument. To further strengthen the validity and reliability of the study, the revised survey instrument was given to a focus group of teachers take the survey and provide feedback each survey item to ensure clarity and intent.

Summary

Teacher attrition and educator stress have been shown to have negative influence on student achievement (Barnes et al., 2007) and learning outcomes (Buettner et al. 2016). There is abundant research on teacher stress and attrition, however, analyzing attrition through the lens of stress in the post-COVID era can provide substantive data that can be used to recommend practical solutions to the mounting problem of teacher attrition. While factors like retirement, salary, and accountability measures are often cited as reasons for high teacher attrition this is an oversimplification of the issue (Ramos & Hughes, 2020). Stress and inability to manage stressors are some of the top reasons teachers leave the profession (Aguilar, 2018; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017).

COVID-19 school disruptions amplified classroom-related stressors (Kaden, 2020). This amplification of the preexisting stressors may have led to work conditions whereby dissatisfiers have reached intolerable levels, possibly resulting in burnout and/or intent to leave the

profession. This study will examine teacher perceptions of stress and work-related factors and the relationship with intent to leave the classroom. The findings will contribute to future research and development of instruments that school districts and leaders can use to examine specific workplace factors that can lead of teacher attrition.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

This study examined the specific workplace factors of workload, motivation, students, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, and job satisfaction using a teacher stress perception scale to determine influence on teacher intent to leave the profession and/or teacher attrition. "Job related stressors are the strongest predictor of poor job satisfaction for teachers" (Von der Embse, et al., 2016, p. 312). The following review of literature will provide an overview of relevant and current knowledge on the topic of teacher attrition, stress, workplace stressors, and COVID-19.

Teacher Attrition

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, school districts across the nation were already indicating severe teacher shortages, with the teacher attrition rate at 8%; even higher for beginning teachers and teachers in high poverty schools (Perryman & Calvert, 2020). In 2017, 40 states reported shortages in certain subjects and almost 70% of districts surveyed did not have enough qualified candidates for position openings, more than double the rate reported in 2014. The 2016-2017 school year saw 36 states fill 87,000 positions with applicants who were not fully certified (Sutcher et al., 2019).

Teacher attrition results in a loss of personnel and resources. Keeping teachers in the profession has an important effect on overall school climate. Teachers gain knowledge and experience with each year; therefore, teacher longevity results in more effective teachers. There is a significant investment in training early career teachers (Ryan et al., 2017). When new teachers leave within the first five years, schools and districts lose the money and time they invested (Ryan et al., 2017).

One-third of school leaders surveyed during the COVID-19 shutdowns reported higher than normal attrition rates in October 2020, with two-thirds indicating normal attrition rates (Diliberti et al., 2021). Whether the attrition rates experienced a slight decline or remained constant is likely attributed to other reasons, such as uncertain economic conditions. Nationwide shutdowns and unemployment made it difficult to find alternative gainful employment. When unemployment rises, teachers are less likely to leave their jobs (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021). A study of six large urban districts from across the country showed that at the height of the COVID-19 school shutdowns in 2020, teacher turnover declined from 17.3% to 12.6%, with the largest decline among new teachers at high poverty schools (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021).

Despite some indications of attrition rates leveling off or even lessening during the school shutdowns, whether due to a sense of duty or economic fears, it appears that COVID-19 accelerated teacher attitudes towards leaving. In a national survey of teachers in October 2020, a fourth reported their intention to quit before the end of the 20-21 school year. However, most of these respondents claimed they would not have left before COVID-19 (Diliberti & Kaufman, 2020). In an additional study conducted by the RAND Corporation, almost half of the 1000 teachers surveyed who voluntarily quit in the spring of 2020 claimed it was due to COVID-19 (Diliberti et al., 2021). This is supported by other research in which teachers responded that 40% of coworkers who thought about quitting due to COVID-19, did in fact leave (Zamarro et al., 2022).

Teacher attrition also tends to vary by region; the Southern United States has a higher turnover rate than the rest of the country (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). Nationally, the teacher turnover rate is around 15%, with the South averaging around 17% (Williams et al., 2021). Before the pandemic, 65% of teacher attrition was from Southern states, and this region

accounted for 55% teacher attrition during the pandemic (Diliberti et al., 2021). Therefore, it is important to study and analyze attrition in the Southern United States. South Carolina school districts reported 1063 vacant positions in October 2021. This is a 52% increase from the previous year, and the largest number of vacancies since CERRA began reporting this data in 2001 (CERRA, 2021).

Teacher shortages have many concerned with how to get more people into the teaching profession. However, teacher attrition data suggests that preventing preretirement attrition could potentially solve the problem (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). A common form of attrition is retirement; however, less than a third of teachers leaving the profession are due to retirements. Sixty percent of all teacher attrition is classified as "preretirement attrition" (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016), meaning that many teachers are choosing to permanently vacate teaching positions before reaching retirement eligibility. With more teachers leaving midcareer and traditional teacher preparation programs at colleges and universities graduating fewer numbers of qualified teachers, there is a teacher shortage. These shortages only exacerbate the problem of teacher attrition.

High rates of teacher attrition seem to stem from issues that compound upon themselves. In an effort to fill vacancies created by teacher exodus, school systems use alternate certification programs or hire underqualified personnel to fill vacancies, which in turn increases stress on certified teachers by creating additional responsibilities outside of their classroom (Ramos & Hughes, 2019). Teachers who have entered the profession through alternative certification initiatives with little preparation before they enter are two to three times more likely to quit than teachers who have had formal teacher preparation (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016).

The learning curve of new teachers is extremely high, demanding skills and knowledge that new teachers simply do not possess; this often causes stress and job dissatisfaction that can eventually increase turnover rates for teachers in the first few years of their career (Hughes, 2012). There appears to be a mismatch between what teachers expect to do and what they actually do that is demotivating and ultimately leads to teacher attrition (Williams, 2017).

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, fewer college students were choosing education majors due to misgivings over pay and working conditions (Will, 2022). Data shows a 35% decline in the number of teacher preparation program completers between 2008 and 2019 (Will, 2022). A recent survey by the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education (AACTE) indicates the continuation of the downward trend in teacher education programs with 20% of institutions reporting an 11% decrease in undergraduate teacher preparation programs (Chirichella, 2022; Will, 2022).

Teacher wages are a contributing factor of attrition, but teachers listed financial considerations third in significance behind time constraints and local culture respectively (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). While some blame low wages for teacher attrition, the recent phenomena of teachers deciding to quit despite not having another job waiting, suggests they are leaving because of nonmonetary reasons (Ramos & Hughes, 2019). Some leading reasons identified by teachers who quit are dissatisfaction, concerns with administration, lack of input in instructional decision making, accountability demands, and other working conditions (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). A survey of 1000 teachers who left their positions in 2020 cited stress at a rate of two to one over wages; in many cases, these individuals left for jobs of equal or lesser pay; 30% went on to work in jobs with no health insurance or retirement benefits

(Diliberti et al., 2021). These findings suggest that factors other than money are critical to teacher retention and must be addressed.

Stress

In general terms, stress is a physiological or psychological response to internal or external stimuli; stress affects almost all bodily systems and influences how people feel and act (APA, n.d.). Stress can also be defined as an unpleasant experience connected to environmental factors causing feelings of anxiety, anger, and/or frustration (Kyriacou, 2001). This study examined stress as related to occupational or job stress, following the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health's (2022) definition of job stress as, "the harmful physical and emotional responses that occur when the requirements of the job do not match the capabilities, resources, or needs of the worker."

Teacher stress differs slightly given the specific context of the school setting; individuals have different capacities to manage stress and the range of variability of school-based stressors. Therefore, teacher stress is dependent upon environmental interactions between the individual and environment influenced by social and institutional support factors (Jarvis, 2002; Lazarus & Folkman, 1984; Saeki et al., 2018). While some stress is beneficial, this study will focus on forms of toxic stress, when "demands consistently outpace ability to cope" resulting in dissociation, often ending in burnout (Aguilar, 2018).

Stress has been reported as a primary reason for leaving the teaching profession (Liu & Onwuegbuzie, 2012). This is particularly concerning given that in a 2021 survey, 75% of teachers reported "frequent job-related stress" (Mulvahill, 2022). This seems to hold true both before and during the pandemic. In a survey of teachers who left their jobs from two years before

the pandemic and into the first nine months of the pandemic, stress was listed as the number one reason for leaving (Zamarro et al., 2022). Teacher stress has been linked to many negative outcomes including reduced self-efficacy, lower job satisfaction, decrease in professional commitment, burnout, and ultimately attrition (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2015).

COVID-19 and School Structure

Schools and school districts function as organized systems. A system is described as two or more interdependent parts with defined, yet porous, boundaries functioning separately within an external "suprasystem" (Kast & Rosenwig, 1973). Organizations accomplish objectives through distinct processes or workflow (Katz and Kahn, 1978). Because of the unique intersectionality of school systems through the participation of internal and external stakeholders, such as politicians, business partners, community organizations, parents, students, teachers, administrators, and district personnel, schools are constantly affected by outside factors resulting in continuous reorganization in order to accomplish their identified mission (Scott & Davis, 2007) An educational system is the product of historical, political, social, and cultural influences creating a larger system of which schools are a part; a change in any one of the subsystems can cause a change in the others (Serdyukov, 2017). These systems constantly ebb and flow with various accountability measures and initiatives, but the COVID-19 shutdowns completely disrupted normal system dynamics. There was no national guidance for how to handle school shutdowns or re-openings; many school districts were given the freedom to determine "best practices" to meet the needs of students (Zimmerman et al., 2020). This resulted in widespread differences from state to state, district to district, and even school to school, adding to teacher feelings of confusion and turmoil.

A systematic review of school districts' websites indicated a wide variety in how school districts structured student learning in response to COVID-19 shutdowns (Gross & Opalka, 2020). The disruption and resulting changes to basic school functions and structures due to COVID-19 caused an organizational crisis. Crisis management prepares organizations to handle crises and mitigate damage to the organization and stakeholders (Gainey, 2009, as cited in Grissom & Condon, 2021). However, no one was prepared for a situation like the COVID-19 school closures nationwide. Neither teachers, students, nor parents were prepared for the new roles and responsibilities COVID-19 would bring, and schools struggled to provide support and training (Morgenthaler, 2020).

Organizational Stress

Organizational factors appear to have a significant influence on teacher stress and job satisfaction. Some research suggests that teachers are leaving not because of personal attributes or even student characteristics, but because of "school level factors" (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). The Institute for Social Research (ISR) model for organizational stress categorizes and measures organizational stress using six factors: the objective environment, the psychological environment, mental and physical health and disease, enduring properties of the person, and interpersonal relations (Katz & Kahn, 1978). ISR measures individual perception of the objective environment and how those factors facilitate or are detrimental to completing their job. This illustrates the subjectivity of an individual's perception on objective environmental factors. This is similar to the McGrath four-stage model of occupational stress based on employee perceptions and responses to the workplace environment, including cognitive appraisal, decision making, performance, and outcomes (McGrath, 1987).

Multiple models of organizational stress are relevant to the educational systemic upheaval during the COVID-19 pandemic. Teachers had to adapt to a completely new educational setting through remote learning with little preparation (Hodges et al., 2020). The Karasek Job Demand-Control Model identified the most stressful workplaces as those in which an employee does not have the ability to participate in decision making (Riley, 2007; Van der Doef & Maes, 1999). When teachers have limited control or input into curriculum, planning, or implementation, they could "experience anxiety and hopelessness that negatively impact work performance" (Karasek, 1979, p. 287.)

The Person-Environment (P-E) Fit Model does not only focus on environmental factors, but it also examines the interaction between the person and the situation. If an employee's skills and abilities do not match environmental demands, an imbalance can occur. This means that the person and the environment are not a good fit, which results in unmet personal needs, leading to stress that may affect job performance (Jex, 1998). The alignment of the individual and environment can become skewed, creating a "stress misfit" in which organizational demands exceed the capabilities of the individual, creating an environment in which the traditional intrinsic and extrinsic motivators no longer meet teacher needs (Andela, & van der Doef, 2019). When a teacher cannot meet the required demands and their knowledge and/or training needs go unmet, teacher efficacy is impacted (Jex, 1998).

All of the models focus on specific environmental workplace factors as indicators of stress that inform the current design. These models must be taken into consideration when most of the commonly identified sources of teacher stress are school organization, job demands, work resources, and social and emotional interactions (Hayden et al., 2018). Organizational stress

models are appropriate due to the fact structural uncertainties due to COVID-19 shutdowns and re-openings exacerbated already high teacher stress levels (Herman et al., 2021).

Workload

An estimated 40-50% of early career teachers leave within the first five years (Ingersoll, 2001; Perryman & Calvert, 2020; Ryan et al., 2017). Aspiring teachers believe they understand the workload demands of the profession they wish to join; however, workload has been listed most frequently as the reason for quitting or for wanting to leave in the future (Perryman & Calvert, 2020). New teachers may view job demands as beyond their capabilities. New teachers are expected to handle the same responsibilities as veteran teachers, while being evaluated using the same criteria (Farmer 2020). This can prove frustrating and be perceived as unfair to early career teachers.

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, teachers reported working on average between 42 and 49 hours per week. In contrast, during the COVID-19 pandemic, teachers reported working an average of 52 hours per week or more (Diliberti et al., 2021; Starz, 2019). COVID-19 appears to have increased teacher stress levels by requiring even more hours and necessitating switching to and/or learning new technical content delivery systems (Diliberti et al., 2021). Many teachers were suddenly thrust into the world of online learning, with little to no experience with this learning modality; they reported that all aspects of planning, instruction, and assessment were more challenging and made them feel less effective and unsuccessful (Huck & Zhang, 2021). Given the already high workload of teachers, it was unrealistic to expect staff to be able to learn new technology, curricula, and pedagogy all at once; there should have been a phased implementation (Schwartz, 1995, as cited in Riley, 2007).

The constant and time-consuming workload was given as a top reason for leaving the classroom along with trying to find a work-life balance. Teachers overwhelmingly describe an inability to find balance between job duties and home life as being detrimental to their "ability to teach" (Helmke, 2020). During the COVID-19 pandemic, 83% of working teachers listed workload as the reason why they may leave in the future, describing it as "unmanageable," "insane," and "extreme" (Perryman & Calvert, 2020).

In the spring of 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic caused nationwide school closures that increased typical demands on teachers, requiring changing instructional modalities and unfamiliar technology requirements. As schools began to reopen, teachers experienced combinations of in-person, hybrid, and remote learning models (Zamarro et al., 2022). Hybrid instruction differed from fully remote or fully in person instruction because it was a combination of the two. The hybrid structure reported by most schools required students to attend class in person two or three times a week, with two or three days being conducted remotely (Anderson, 2021). Teachers reported having to change instructional modes during school disruptions, especially the hybrid model, as increasing their intent to retire early or leave the profession (Zamarro et al., 2022).

Teacher working conditions include a variety of school environmental factors that affect student and adult learning, such as leadership, collaboration, accountability systems, class sizes, facilities, instructional resources, and access to technology. Accountability measures in recent years have resulted in an increase of teacher workload through maintenance, collection, and analysis of student assessment data without reduction in other professional expectations (Santoro, 2018). Paperwork and assessment are linked to personal stress and teacher attrition (Kersaint et al., 2007). Studies show that teachers who feel they are micromanaged or have

excessive bureaucratic tasks also tend to feel less organizational commitment (Flitchett et al., 2021).

COVID-19 increased demands and created policy uncertainties that had a drastic impact on working conditions. The increased professional demands and workload on teachers without providing adequate time or removing previously existing responsibilities led to the "intensification" of stress (Santoro, 2018). This could explain the most recent South Carolina educator supply and demand report indicating approximately 1,060 unfilled teaching positions from September-October 2021. At the time of the initial report, that was over a 50% increase from the previous year and the largest number of vacancies since the initial administration of the supply and demand survey in 2001. Updated data from February 2022 reports 977 additional departures, now totaling 1,121 teacher vacancies for the 2021-2022 school year (CERRA, 2022).

Teacher vacancies also contribute to the problem of teacher stress. Staffing shortages and other pandemic-related consequences have teachers reporting higher stress levels than usual (Will, 2022). Remaining teachers are left to absorb the duties of those unfilled positions, adding to the normal workload. There is a direct correlation between teacher workload perception and job satisfaction, with excessive workload leading to emotional exhaustion and desire to leave the profession (Toropova et al., 2020).

Motivation and Job Satisfaction

Job satisfaction is strongly correlated to motivation and often manifests as a direct effect on motivation, including job efficiency (Bota, 2013). Job satisfaction is related to intrinsic motivational factors that include the nature of the work, decision making power, appreciation, responsibility, and opportunity for growth (Jahromi et al., 2018). However, the construct of job

satisfaction may be difficult to quantify due to the subjective nature of feelings of pleasure or contentment (Bota, 2013). Teachers are satisfied with aspects of their job that exemplify these motivational factors like instruction and interactions with students (Von Der Embse et al., 2016). Conversely, a lack of respect and/or a negative perception of the teaching profession contributes to burnout among teachers (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018).

Knowledge workers like teachers are motivated by intrinsic rewards or what Maslow's hierarchy of needs classifies as growth needs, such as the desire for esteem and self-actualization. However, these intrinsic motivators cannot be attained when the extrinsic, more rudimentary supports are not present or have negative impact (Herzberg et al., 1959). When applied to the workplace, the motivation-hygiene theory quantifies job satisfaction by examining which work environmental factors caused satisfaction or dissatisfaction. Factors like salary and benefits are important considerations when considering a career. These are classified as hygiene factors, or potential dissatisfiers; they are extrinsic and include organizational policies, working conditions, and salary (Herzberg et al., 1959).

Job dissatisfaction is linked to extrinsic motivators or hygiene factors, which include policy and management, supervision, salary, relationships with coworkers, work conditions, and job stability (Jahromi et al., 2018). School-based hygiene factors, or potential dissatisfiers, include compensation, number of preps, planning, duties, and treatment by administrators. Ineffective management policies are the most frequent sources of dissatisfaction and weak management generates dissatisfaction and creates demoralization in the school and district (Brazer et al., 2019). Teachers report that increasing workloads without additional compensation are a contributing factor in quitting (Hughes, 2012).

According to the labor market framework, teachers will stay in their current positions as long as teaching provides them the most perceived "rewards" as compared to alternate job options (Guarino et al., 2006). Perceived effort-reward imbalance can lead to burnout and decreased job satisfaction (Denton et al., 2021). Decreased job satisfaction increases absenteeism, employee illness, low morale, and intent to leave the profession (Von der Embse et al., 2016). It is important to note that while some literature suggests teacher attrition is driven by financial motivation (Ramos & Hughes, 2020; Sutcher et al., 2016), a recent study found stress to be the most common reason for leaving the profession before and during the COVID-19 pandemic, with nearly half of those participants indicating that teaching was not worth the stress, while only 28% blamed low pay (Diliberti et al., 2021).

Student Stressors

Classrooms are filled with students from a variety of backgrounds with differing social, emotional, behavioral, and cognitive abilities. Teachers must provide meaningful instruction while meeting student needs every day, resulting in both positive and negative social interactions. Emotional fatigue experienced by teachers when dealing with high stress, emotionally charged classroom situations can take a toll, that if not relieved can contribute to teacher turnover (Farmer, 2020). Failing to meet student academic needs and ineffective classroom management can erode teacher efficacy and cause teachers to quit (Owens & Hudson, 2021). Constant teacher turnover and stress can result in classroom instability (Arizona Department of Education, 2015).

Teacher stress and turnover can negatively affect student learning and emotional wellbeing (Thorpe et al., 2020). It typically takes around three to five years for a new teacher to become effective (ADE, 2015). Unfortunately, high attrition rates among teachers within the first

five years means fewer effective teachers in the classroom. High teacher attrition rates have been linked to increased student discipline issues and decreased student achievement (Arizona Department of Education, 2015). Although it is important to note that teachers claim they leave schools because of a negative environment, not because of students (Ovens & Hudson, 2021).

Low student engagement and motivation can influence teacher stress levels as well (Farmer, 2020; Tye & O'Brien, 2002). Beginning teachers are highly motivated to continue teaching when they experience positive student engagement (Burke et al., 2013). If new teachers experience negative student interactions, they may begin to question their efficacy and/or career choice. When teachers have experiences that do not match expectations, there is a higher probability they will leave the profession (Rinke, 2013). Changing instructional modalities and decreased student engagement has 84% of teachers and administrators reporting lower morale levels than prior to COVID-19, indicating that "working during the pandemic has made them [teachers] more likely to leave teaching or retire early" (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021).

Teacher stress tends to result in reactive classroom management strategies that exacerbate student disruptive behaviors, ending in higher teacher stress levels and creating a "cycle of stress" (Herman et al., 2020). Studies show that teachers whose emotional wellbeing has been compromised due to stress are not as effective when dealing with challenging student behaviors (Kokkinos et al., 2005). In addition, workplace stress is linked to increased teacher-student classroom conflict (Buettner et al., 2016). Student behavioral problems and lack of support has been noted as a contributing factor of teacher job dissatisfaction that can lead to higher attrition rates (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018).

In January 2022, 44% of teachers surveyed reported student behavior concerns (Mulvahill, 2022). Data from the 2015-2016 school year shows that 10% of teachers were

threatened by their students with physical injury; 6% of those were subject to physical assaults (NCES, 2022). This leads to demoralization and dissatisfaction that results in teachers leaving the profession. "The most important organizational determinant of attrition is the behavioral climate of the school; teachers are much more likely to leave a school with disruptive, inattentive, or hostile students" (Kelly & Northrop, 2015, p. 630). Effective discipline plans and student discipline have been linked directly to administrative support (Kersaint et al., 2007).

School safety can be described as "school conditions that affect the physical and psychological well-being of students and teachers" (Boyd et al., 2011, p. 308). Safety concerns affecting the physical and emotional well-being of teachers are on the rise, along with increased incidents of school and community violence (Farmer, 2020). Improving teacher working conditions has been found directly proportional to increasing teacher retention (Santoro, 2018).

Administrative Support

Administrative support is defined as "the extent to which principals and other school leaders make teachers' work easier and help them to improve their teaching" (Boyd et al., 2011, p. 307). Characteristics of effective school leadership include consistency, support with student behavior, communication, teacher autonomy, and shared decision making (Ansley et al., 2019). Administrative support is reported as a major consideration in the decision to leave, with one study indicating teachers who describe their administrators as not being supportive being two times as likely to quit than those who considered their administrators supportive (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016).

A key predictor of teacher turnover is a positive relationship with their supervisor (Wells, 2015). Teachers feel that school leaders who effectively communicate expectations and provide

disciplinary support reduce the likelihood of teachers leaving that school (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021). Supportive administrators can reduce stress that teachers feel on a daily basis and are key to retaining teachers (Saeki et al., 2018). Ensuring supportive school leadership and effective professional development are effective ways in which school administrators can support teachers and may lead to higher teacher retention (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018).

The COVID-19 pandemic may have negatively impacted educational structures, causing increased administrative directives and less teacher input and collaboration, which created an environment detrimental to teacher well-being. When schools across the country shut down, no one knew how long they would remain closed. The basic function of the school system was interrupted, causing a crisis for leaders and other stakeholders in the process. The reactive crisis management that followed led to decisions that impacted the long-term recovery of normal school functions (Grissom & Condon, 2021).

COVID-19 not only challenged fundamental beliefs in how school could be structured, but it also caused many teachers to examine the nature of their work and their role as successful teachers (Helmke, 2020). This change required a sudden shift to online platforms with little preparation and training; typical classroom management skills used in traditional settings were no longer effective in online settings. The transition to a completely new educational structure with no preparation or training caused significant teacher stress (Helmke, 2021). The uncertainties led to administrative mandates, with teachers having little input or understanding of the goals.

The shift of job requirements due to COVID-19 shutdowns resulted in teacher isolation and confusion; teachers were physically removed from their colleagues. Isolation is a risk factor for decreased teacher self-efficacy, especially among new teachers. When a school environment

does not encourage professional and social interaction with coworkers or provide opportunities to express concerns with fellow teachers, this can lead to a heightened sense of isolation and helplessness (Prilleltensky et al., 2016).

As schools began to re-open after the COVID-19 shutdowns, teachers were tasked with increased bureaucratic duties that had excessive time demands. COVID-19 protocols called for social distancing and contact tracing, causing teachers to spend time on noninstructional tasks while feeling micromanaged and limited in their instructional choices. Micromanagement or a rigid bureaucratic structure creates distrust in administration (Tschannen-Moran, 2009). This distrust can undermine the administration in a school and result in a toxic culture, especially with the notion that "teachers want to work in schools where they have greater autonomy, higher levels of administrative support, and clearly communicated expectations" (Hughes, 2012, p. 2).

Administrators set the tone and expectations for the school; as such, they can have a tremendous effect on teacher retention. A statewide study of North Carolina teacher perceptions of working conditions and their intent to leave the school found that working conditions were "highly predictive" of teachers' employment intentions, with school leadership as the most important contributing factor (Ladd, 2011).

Despite the instability of the instructional environment, teachers were expected to continue to implement existing district initiatives and teacher evaluation and expectations were not adjusted to consider the fluidity of reality. Leaders must be flexible and open to effective solutions, including letting go of traditional methods and failed initiatives (Morgenthaler, 2020). In order to accomplish this, leaders must give up some control and create "participatory, communicative structures" that include teachers, rather than isolate them (Donaldson, 1996, as cited in Brazer et al., 2019).

Professional Investment

The current study refers to professional investment as teacher involvement in planning and decision making (individually or collaboratively) along with the ability to express ideas and concerns. This construct includes collegial relationships and the resulting school culture.

Research shows that teachers are more likely to stay in a school setting in which they experience positive relationships with their peers (Farmer, 2020). Collegial supports and relationships are important considerations in teacher attrition, especially among new teachers (Burke et al., 2013).

Schools are learning communities; administrators, teachers, and students do not work or learn in isolation. Teachers feel that the school principal influences trust among collaborative teams by allowing autonomy for teachers to set goals and have an active role in the school process (Hallam et al., 2015). Effective teachers do not work in isolation, but instead act as members of Professional Learning Communities (PLC). A PLC collaboration is "a systematic process in which teachers work together interdependently to impact their classroom practice in ways that lead to better results for their students" (Dufour et al., 2016, p. 12). PLCs function as teams of teachers who collaborate to improve pedagogy and assessment to create an environment where all students succeed; they are typically arranged by grade level and/or subject area (Serviss, 2021).

In a PLC, teachers work together to identify learning targets, monitor student progress, and implement intervention strategies. These intentional meetings and conversations provide social and instructional support and lead to teachers working interdependently instead of alone (Pyhalto et al., 2015). These learning communities "foster a sense of belonging" that provide teachers with input in instructional decisions and improve school climate (Prilleltensky et al., 2016). These structures build a supportive school culture built on trust. PLCs help provide a clear

structure that addresses current challenges by providing support from all levels of the school (Pirtle & Tobia, 2014). School climate is a key predictor of stress, with low levels of stress associated with strong social support from coworkers (Saeki et al., 2018).

Higher teacher retention and job satisfaction has been reported by teachers who participate in schoolwide decision-making processes and feel they have greater autonomy on daily classroom decisions (Flitchett et al., 2021). A survey of public-school teachers who left their classrooms during the COVID-19 pandemic showed that many took jobs in private schools. Of those, 86% indicated that the most positive factor of the new private school position was a better work climate, while 77% cited more control over instructional decisions (Diliberti et al., 2021). This is consistent with a recent survey of professional occupations in which teachers ranked the lowest of all professions in feeling that their opinions mattered at work (Mulvahill, 2022).

Personal Health

Stress has been found to be a major contributing factor to job-related illness (Farmer, 2020). Stress affects people in different ways and teachers perceive and react differently to it. For those teachers unable to cope with stress, it can be detrimental to their professional and personal wellbeing (Van der Vyver et al., 2020). High occupational stress can result in physical illness such as high blood pressure, ulcers, heart disease, fatigue, colds, flu, headaches, muscle pain, and insomnia (Farmer 2020; Hester et al., 2020; Thong & Yap, 2000). Consequently, high occupational stress can result in organizational outcomes like absenteeism and turnover (Thong & Yap, 2000).

Stress is associated with emotional conditions such as anxiety, depression, low motivation and/or self-esteem, tension, or alcoholism (Farmer 2020; Thong & Yap, 2000). Working for prolonged periods in high stress environments can lead to burnout (Oberle & Schonert-Reichl, 2016). Burnout includes feelings of exhaustion that causes mental distancing from the job, feelings of negativity related to the job, and reduced professional efficacy (WHO, 2019).

Even before COVID-19, high stress levels and mental health issues were often found among teachers (Jackson & Rothmann, 2005; Kern et al., 2014; Van der Vyver et al., 2020). However, the COVID-19 pandemic brought both physical and mental health to the forefront of public conversation. As a result of the disruptions and restructuring of conventional school systems and structures, teachers reported both a physical and mental toll that may have impacted their wellbeing (Kaden, 2020). Professional wellbeing relates to how an individual views their ability to complete required job tasks. A healthy wellbeing includes positive feelings of efficacy and job satisfaction (Aelterman et al., 2007; Van der Vyver et al., 2020), but poor professional wellbeing has been associated with absenteeism and medical retirement (Evers et al., 2015; Kuoppala et al., 2008). Since prolonged stress can manifest with both physical and mental symptoms, it is critical that this research explore the link between school-based environmental factors and teacher physical and mental wellbeing.

Negative working conditions lead to stress which can lead to physical illness, which in turn can affect job performance and increase teacher attrition (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). In a 2021 State of the Teacher Survey, 27% of teachers surveyed reported symptoms of depression, describing conditions as "untenable" (Doan et al., 2022). Workload and the ability to maintain work-life balance play a role in teacher stress levels. Teachers who work more than 50 hours a

week and/or take work home tend to have a lower mental wellbeing score on psychological assessments (Farmer, 2020). Supporting teacher mental health leads to successful learning outcomes and higher achievement (Kaden, 2020). Failing to retain teachers by ignoring their emotional well-being could have greater implications.

To help mitigate teacher attrition, it is necessary to examine school-based structures or hygiene factors including compensation, number of class preparations, planning, duties, and treatment by administrators to identify specific causes. Ineffective management policies are the most frequent sources of dissatisfaction. Weak management generates dissatisfaction and creates demoralization in the school and district (Brazer et al., 2019). "Until we dig down to the structural and systemic roots of the dysfunctions in our education system, we will continue to see high levels of teacher turnover" (Aguilar, 2018, p. 6). Examining different workplace factors may provide insight into the underlying causes of teacher dissatisfaction

Many teachers leave for non-retirement reasons, such as lower self-efficacy and poor administrative support (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2017). Job dissatisfaction and stressful working conditions are good predictors of teacher attrition, whereas administrative support and positive collegial relationships are associated with teacher retention (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2017). Several factors have been found to contribute to teacher stress and burnout, including, "workload, lack of collaboration with colleagues, lack of support from supervisors, and difficulties with classroom management" (Denton et al., 2021; Iancu et al., 2018). Stress affects teacher mental and physical health as well as job satisfaction in addition to teacher attrition (McCarthy et al., 2016). Examining teachers' perceived stress as related to workplace factors is key to understanding teacher motivation to leave the profession.

Theoretical Framework

This study applies a constructivist grounded theory approach in which the researcher will seek to fill in critical gaps of understanding on teacher perception of stress and workplace factors and its influence on intent to leave the profession or teacher attrition. This approach assumes that there are in fact multiple realities, and that data is relative and situational (Charmaz, 2014). Grounded theory allows the data to serve as the basis for the theory as opposed to a specific conceptual framework. This requires the collection of both quantitative and qualitative data, which when analyzed together provide "mutual verification." Grounded theory attempts to explain the causes of relationships identified by traditional statistical analysis (Sturges & Klingner, 2005). Using an adapted convergent mixed methods study data collected from a teacher stress inventory (TSI) provides the foundation for theory development.

This study also utilizes "informed grounded theory" in which a review of the literature will provide a contextual framework of the problem and constructs developed for investigation (Thornberg, 2012). In keeping with the constructivist paradigm, scholars recognize that researcher experience and knowledge cannot be separated from the data analysis process and will prove valuable in the development of conceptual constructs that are situationally relevant but abstract enough that they can be applied in "multi-conditional" real world situations (Glaser & Strauss, 1967).

Teacher perceptions of workplace conditions are the strongest predictor of teacher stress (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). Stress has been reported as a primary reason for leaving the teaching profession (Liu & Onwuegbuzie, 2012). It appears that the COVID-19 disruptions amplified classroom-related stressors (Kaden, 2020). As we move from the COVID-19 pandemic phase to the endemic phase, it is important to examine the influence of COVID-19 and

workplace environmental stressors and their relationship to teacher intent to leave the profession or teacher attrition.

Chapter 3

Method

This research study employs a convergent mixed methods design using data collected from a teacher concerns survey instrument. The current study extends research on teacher stress by applying the lens of stress perception and the additional component of COVID-19.

Research Questions

The purpose of this study is to determine how specific workplace stressors such as workload, motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic), student concerns, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, and job satisfaction contribute to teacher intention to leave the profession and/or attrition.

- 1. What is the relationship between workplace environmental factors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and teacher stress?
- 2. How do workplace environmental stressors influence teacher attrition (intent to leave the profession)?
- 3. How do intrinsic and extrinsic factors influence teacher stress level?

Research Design

A convergent mixed methods study was used to compare and discuss similarities and differences of both quantitative and qualitative data. In this approach, survey data was used to measure the relationship between stress and workplace factors. At the same time, individual responses to open ended questions provided further explanation into the nuances of the perceived stress and how it may manifest. Collection of both quantitative and qualitative information in this

manner can determine whether the literature-based survey items differ from individual perceptions and if so, explain why the responses and perspectives differ (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018).

Mixed Methods

A mixed-methods research design incorporates both quantitative and qualitative research methods. This research study employs a convergent mixed methods design using data collected from a teacher concerns survey instrument. The study follows the basic steps for convergent mixed methods design as outlined by Creswell and Plano Clark (2018). In this design, the first step was to determine the procedures of the study, identify participants, and develop a plan to obtain the sample. The teacher concerns survey instrument developed for this study includes quantitative and qualitative items. Using quantitative correlations allowed the researcher to examine the frequency and strength of relationships between environmental factors and teacher stress. The use of qualitative data will increase the relevance of the data by grounding it in nuances identified by the target population (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). By collecting both quantitative and qualitative data using selected response Likert-scale stress items and open-ended responses, the researcher used the qualitative data to verify the results obtained from the quantitative analysis.

The second step of the convergent design method was to analyze the data. A benefit of the convergent design method is the collection of the quantitative and qualitative data at the same time (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). This method collected different data on the same construct that is used to compliment and inform conclusions (Morse, 1991). Quantitative data was collected describing various workplace factors in terms of a stress rating scale. Demographic variables included age, gender, number of years teaching, school classification (urban, suburban,

rural), grade level taught, and whether or not it is a high needs school. Demographic information was analyzed using descriptive statistics to determine percent breakdowns and effect size. This helped to describe the sample and assess the data distribution.

Step three of the convergent mixed methods design was to merge the quantitative and qualitative results. The researcher identified points found to be shared between the quantitative and qualitative data sets. By identifying differences and similarities between the quantitative and qualitative data sets, the researcher synthesized the results and determine patterns of commonalities or inconsistencies (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). The analysis was represented in a table that arranges the quantitative and qualitative results in a way conducive to comparison and/or differentiation.

Finally, step four of the convergent mixed methods design was to interpret the results. Once the data was synthesized, the researcher summarized the results. At this stage, the researcher discussed the extent to which the data overlapped as well as the extent to which the data conflicted (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). Determining data relationships provided a more complete understanding of teacher stress perceptions of workplace environmental factors and how those stressors influence teacher intention to leave the profession.

Figure 1: Procedures for implementing a convergent mixed-methods design

Step 1	Quantitative Portion Design quantitative research questions and approach Qualitative Portion Design qualitative research questions and approach
Step 2	Quantitative Data Analysis Descriptive statistics, inferential statistics, and effect size Qualitative Data Analysis Theme development and frequency
Step 3	Merge Two Sets of Results Identify commonalities Compare/contrast or synthesize Create a joint display for the quantitative and qualitative data or discussion
Step 4	Interpret Merged Results Summarize and interpret results Explain convergences, divergences, relationships Plan further analysis or data collection

Source: Adapted from Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018

Constructivist Grounded Theory

Grounded theory can take different forms (Glasser & Strauss, 2012). This study will construct a grounded theory as part of a theoretical discussion on teacher perception of workplace environmental stress and how this influences teacher intent to leave the profession, or attrition, using conceptual categories and related components (Glasser & Strauss, 2012). The grounded theory will be generated from a paradigm of constructivism using a mixed-methods approach. Assumptions associated with this world view seek to gain understanding of a phenomena using the subjective perceptions of participants. This method results in research that will broaden understanding from the data, rather than a specific theoretical lens (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018; Denzin, 2009). The incorporation of objective quantitative data acted as a check to eliminate researcher bias often associated with constructivist qualitative studies.

A grounded theoretical approach assumes that there are multiple realities, and that data is relative and situational (Charmaz, 2014). The observer's experiences and knowledge cannot be separated from the data analysis process and proved valuable in the development of conceptual constructs used in the data collection survey instrument. Combining a peer reviewed instrument with constructs and questions derived from researcher expertise and current literature ensured that conceptual constructs used in the survey instrument are relevant to the target population, but abstract enough to result in a theory that can be applied in "multi-conditional" real world situations (Glaser & Strauss, 2012).

There is an abundance of research that indicates stress is a major reason teachers chose to leave the profession (Diliberti et al., 2021; Hughes, 2012; Liu & Onwuegbuzie, 2012; Ryan et al., 2017; Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2015). However, reasons for leaving or workload stressors are often listed in general terms such as "workload," "administrative support," or "school level

factors" (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). Rather than use a single theoretical lens to identify underlying reasons for teacher attrition, respondents need to be allowed to respond in an authentic way that provides the researcher with emergent data and themes to build a theory grounded in teacher perceptions and experience.

This research used stress theory as a unifying organizational framework and as a basis to construct a grounded theory using convergent mixed methods data collection and analysis. This approach will deepen the current understanding of the significance of teacher perceived workplace stressors and how that relates to teacher attrition. The review of literature on stress and teacher attrition provides a reference for the researcher to create constructs and starter codes for the collection and analysis of teacher perceived stress and the relationship to intent to leave the profession.

Participants

Data was collected from South Carolina K-12 public school teachers employed during academic years 2018-2019, 2019-2020, 2020-2021, and 2021-2022. These academic years are specified as they sample before, during, and after the COVID-19 pandemic. The survey included questions to obtain demographic information including age, gender, number of years teaching, subject, grade level taught, school socioeconomic status, school setting (rural, suburban, urban), and current employment status.

Sampling

Before continuing, the researcher is required to submit the research plan that communicates the intent and procedures of the study and participant informed consent to the Coastal Carolina University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB ensures that all research

complies with federal laws and regulations related to research involving human subjects. Once all the permissions have been obtained (see Appendix A) and the survey instrument finalized, the survey is distributed.

This study used probabilistic or random sampling. The distribution of the survey instrument through a group newsletter and/or social media is not conducive to specific individual selection but is appropriate for random sampling of the target population. The recommended sample size for a quantitative population survey is 350, with a minimum of 30 participants necessary for correlational analysis (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). The minimum sample size recommendation for a grounded theory research design is 20-30 (Creswell, 2007). The current design collected information from 60 participants, making it valid to use both a correlational analysis and the grounded theory research design.

The data collection instrument was distributed to members of the Palmetto State Teachers Association (PSTA). The PSTA is the largest professional organization for South Carolina Educators. This organization was chosen because it is not affiliated with any national teacher organizations or unions. This is an important distinction because South Carolina is a Right to Work state, with a long history of resistance towards unions. The southeastern United States has a history of antiunion culture rooted in individualism, poverty, and religion (Simon, 1997). Because the PSTA is not affiliated with any labor unions, there is no stigma associated with membership, which may appeal to a broader spectrum of teachers. PSTA members include teachers from all grade levels and subjects across the state of South Carolina, with over 90% of their members being classroom teachers (PSTA, n.d.).

The survey instrument was distributed via a link to the Google form in mid-January on the PSTA weekly *Thursday Thoughts* newsletter and shared through the PSTA Facebook page.

Once distributed, there was a two-week collection window that began in mid-January. After the initial dissemination of the survey, the link was sent out in the newsletter and on social media the following two Thursdays of the collection window.

The survey instrument utilized concurrent mixed methods data collection; both the quantitative and qualitative data were collected from respondents simultaneously by using both selected response items (e.g., Likert-format responses that measure stress levels) and open-ended questions (i.e., that collect qualitative information about specific school based environmental factors). This resulted in an identical data relationship, as the same respondents participated in the quantitative and qualitative data analysis portions of the study respectively (Onwuegbuzie & Collins, 2007).

Instrument Development

This study used a modified version of Fimian's (1984a) Teacher Stress Inventory (TSI) to provide a guiding framework for the data collection instrument. The original TSI was created to assess stress levels in teachers to better understand the relationship between teacher stress and workplace factors. The workplace environmental constructs identified for investigation in this study include workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19. Motivation referred to those factors both intrinsic and extrinsic that act as satisfiers or dissatisfiers. Student stressors included items related to classroom management, discipline, and student engagement. The administrative support construct encompassed support concerning students, resources, professional development, and teacher efficacy. Professional investment referred to teacher involvement in planning and decision making and the ability to express ideas and concerns. The personal health construct contained items pertaining to physical and emotional needs

experienced during the workday. Job satisfaction referred to items related to satisfaction, school culture and morale. Finally, the addition of the COVID-19 construct sought to identify any perceived workload and student behavior changes directly related to COVID-19 and/or resultant organizational changes.

The original TSI consisted of 63 items using a six-point Likert scale assessing the areas of time management, work-related stressors, professional distress, discipline and motivation, professional investment, emotional manifestations, fatigue manifestations, cardiovascular manifestations, gastronomical manifestations, and behavioral manifestations. The response scale measured how strong the respondents' stress feelings are when they experience the phenomena indicated. The test utilized a Likert Scale from 1 (*no strength*, *not noticeable*, *or not applicable*) to 5 (*major strength*, *extremely noticeable*.) Factor analysis of the TSI subscales indicate a moderate to high internal consistent reliability in both strength and frequency and a large measure of content validity for each subscale (Fimian, 1984). The internal reliability of the TSI was found to be .90 using Chronbach's Alpha, which indicated an high level of internal consistency (Fimian, 1984; Weinstein & Trickett, 2016).

Instrument Modification

Upon review of the TSI, some of the constructs and questions were modified or omitted by the researcher to reflect current education trends, issues, and terminology. This is appropriate given that the original TSI created in 1980 used item stems created from current research at the time (Gallery et al., 1981). The survey instrument for this study (Appendix B) used the original framework, directions, and scale descriptors as the original TSI; the modifications and omissions are described as follows:

- The original constructs of "time management" and "work-related stressors" were combined into the modified construct "workload stressors." This construct included some items from Fimian's (1984a) TSI and combined some items into new items. By doing so, the researcher limited the number of response items from fourteen to four that encapsulated time management and workload issues.
- The original construct of "professional distress" included items about status, respect, and salary. This construct was changed to "motivation" to encompass intrinsic and extrinsic professional motivators. All three of the items in this category are from Fimian's (1984a) TSI.
- The original construct of "discipline and motivation" was concerned about student behavior and motivation. This construct was changed to "student stressors" and three of the four items were from Fimian's (1984a) TSI.
- The original construct of "professional investment" was retained. One of the four items in the modified survey was taken directly from the Fimian's (1984a) TSI.
 One item was reworded for clarity after beta test feedback. The original item stated, "My personal opinions are not sufficiently aired." This was changed to "I feel frustrated when my personal opinions are not valued." Two original items were added to this section based on findings in literature.
- Fimian's (1984a) TSI had several constructs and items inquiring about how the participant responds to stress relating to biobehavioral and physiological-fatigue manifestations. Since the purpose of this study is to determine how specific workplace stressors contribute to teacher intention to leave the profession and/or

attrition, the researcher omitted these categories and included a more general category concerning environmental factors as related to personal health.

For each construct, there were three to five stress items used to calculate the subscale average. The majority of survey items were quantitative items using a five-point strength rating scale. This rating scale is consistent with Fimian's (1984a) original stress rating scale.

Original Survey Items

After review of current research, survey constructs of administrative support, job satisfaction, and COVID-19 were added. Survey items relating to work/life balance, decision making, job satisfaction, intent to leave, and COVID-19 were added to align with the research questions of the current study. The survey format and several of Fimian's (1984a) TSI constructs were used as an outline to strengthen the validity and reliability of the instrument.

Original items were added to the modified TSI for this study to also gather data on teacher intent to leave the profession. Two items asked respondents about their intent to leave teaching, one asking about their intent to leave within the next three years with a Likert scale of 1 (not likely to leave) to 10 (extremely likely to leave), and a second asking whether or not participants had actively looked for another job in the past year.

An additional item asked respondents to rank workplace environmental factors from 1 (*least stressful*) to 7 (*most stressful*). In conjunction with this item, there was an open-ended response item that asked for examples of the participant's top three stressors. Finally, an open-ended response item asks respondents to describe the effect COVID-19 has had on the amount of stress they experienced by providing specific examples.

Beta Testing

The instrument was sent to a focus group of 12 teachers to test the instrument for clarity and validity. All focus group participants selected met the study participant criteria and were representative of the target population. Subjects consisted of doctoral cohort members or were current public-school teachers in South Carolina that worked with the researcher.

A convenience sample composed of members who met the study participant criteria was acceptable in this case due to availability and time constraints (Etikan et al., 2016). The purpose was to test the survey instrument directions, format, and terminology. Respondents were not asked to take the survey, just provide feedback on directions, terms, rating scale, and/or questions. No claims are made from the survey development. The intent of the focus group was to make sure the instrument is worked properly, and to improve validity and reliability of researcher made survey items.

A draft of the teacher concerns inventory was sent to the group with instructions to email the researcher with notes and comments about survey directions or survey items. Respondent feedback was put into a document on the researcher's laptop and used to revise the survey instrument. All identifying information was removed and emails deleted. The specific results are not to be published or shared, only used for instrument (survey) refinement. Based on responses, some of the wording of items not on Fimian's TSI was changed, or clarification was added. Descriptors of the scale responses were added to each item instead of only at the beginning of the survey.

Data Analysis

Data was analyzed and respondents who did not meet the participant criteria were removed. Participants for this study must be South Carolina K-12 public school teachers

employed during academic years 2018-2019, 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021-2022. Descriptive statistics were run, as well as correlational tests, and outliers were identified and excluded. I also checked independent variables for multicollinearity using Field's recommendation of > 0.9 (Field, 2018). This process ensured that highly correlated variables will be identified and be removed so as not to hide significance of other variables.

A multiple regression was conducted using IBM SPSS version 28 to analyze the strength and significance of variable relationships and determine influences. The independent variables are different workplace environmental stressors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and the dependent variable is teacher intent to leave the classroom. A p-value of \leq 0.05 is statistically significant; this indicates that the result supports a relationship that is more than likely not coincidental. Cohen's d, or effect size, was found to determine the strength or influence of the relationship between variables. Cohen's d supports the p-value because it is not dependent upon sample size; the larger the effect size, the stronger the argument to reject the null hypothesis in deference to the variables of significance (Field, 2018).

Once all the qualitative survey responses were collected, the researcher analyzed the data using the steps recommended by Creswell and Plano Clark (2018). After preparing the data, the researcher initially read through all responses to gain an overall understanding of participant responses and write down initial thoughts. Those first impressions and current literature were then used by the researcher to begin the data coding process. The researcher developed a listing of codes for a database as the initial organizing framework, as recommended by Creswell and Plano Clark (2018).

Next, the open-ended qualitative survey responses were input into Dedoose, a software for analyzing qualitative data in mixed methods research. With this program, the researcher created a code for each new idea in the responses. When analyzing the data, the researcher used various coding frames, ranging from phrases and sentences to entire paragraphs. Some codes were created using terms that were representative of commonly expressed ideas, from existing literature, or *in vivo* using respondents' own words (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2015). Related codes from specific excerpts were categorized into themes. As common themes were identified, patterns emerged that provided connections between the data and research questions. Themes were grouped to larger ideas that were connected to create a grounded theory model (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018).

Data was represented using a word cloud that weighted responses by frequency.

Frequency of codes are presented in a code-by-code frequency matrix (Salmona et al., 2019).

The common themes along with the analysis of the quantitative subset frequencies, averages, and significance were represented using thematic organization with the quantitative results from the survey constructs and qualitative quotes for each construct (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018).

This study used triangulation as a validity measure in which data is gathered using different methods (quantitative and qualitative) and several individuals (Mathison, 1988). Qualitative data from multiple respondents were analyzed and used as the basis for code and theme development (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). Triangulation through the mixed methods design and collection of quantitative and qualitative data assisted in removing researcher bias, as well as enhanced understanding of convergent, inconsistent, or contradictory findings (Mathison, 1988).

Chapter 4

Results

This study is framed using grounded theory with a mixed methods approach. Data were concurrently collected from quantitative selected responses and qualitative, open response items on a digital survey instrument. Then information was organized thematically, wherein the quantitative and qualitative data are combined to determine which workplace factors had the most influence on teacher perceived stress levels and intent to leave their jobs. The triangulation of the quantitative data with the qualitative data serves as the basis for a grounded theory in the contributing factors of teacher attrition.

Stressful working conditions have been reported as a common motivator when teachers decide to leave the profession (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2011). The purpose of this study was to determine how workplace environmental factors contribute to teacher intention to leave and/or teacher attrition.

The guiding research questions for this study were:

- 1. What is the relationship between workplace environmental factors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and teacher stress?
- 2. How do workplace environmental stressors influence teacher attrition (intent to leave the profession)?
- 3. How do intrinsic (recognition and respect) and extrinsic factors (salary) influence teacher stress level?

Teachers were asked to rate their perceived stress level as it relates to the following workplace factors: workload, motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic), student concerns, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, and job satisfaction. Intent to continue teaching was analyzed as a direct measure of stress levels through a survey utilizing a modified TSI with the response scale found in Figure 1.

Figure 1
Survey Response Scale Descriptions

Strength of	1	2	3	4	5
Feeling of Stress	No strength; not noticeable or N/A	Mild strength; barely noticeable	Medium strength; moderately noticeable	Great (Moderate) strength; very noticeable	Major strength; extremely noticeable

Teachers' intentions to leave their current positions were measured on a scale of 1 (definitely not going to be teaching) to 10 (definitely will be teaching in three years). An additional item addressed teacher intent by asking if they had actively looked for another job in the past year with a simple yes or no response.

The participants in the study were South Carolina K-12 public school teachers employed during academic years 2018-2019, 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021-2022. The research survey included questions to obtain demographic information including age, gender, number of years teaching, subject, grade level taught, school setting (rural, suburban, urban), and current employment status. Participants were also asked to indicate the socioeconomic status of their school by indicating if the school was a High Needs School (HNS). To ensure response validity

the survey provided respondents the following definition of a HNS as a school serv[ing] a "disproportionate numbers of students with disabilities, economic disadvantages, or other obstacles to their education" (Ansley et al., 2019, p. 3).

The data collection instrument was distributed to members of the Palmetto State

Teachers Association (PSTA). The survey instrument was distributed as a Google form via a link on the PSTA weekly *Thursday Thoughts* newsletter. Once distributed, there was a two-week collection window that began in mid-January. After the initial dissemination of the survey, the link was sent out in the newsletter the following two Thursdays of the collection window. In addition to the newsletter, PSTA coordinators shared the study information with members by direct email and Facebook during the last week of the collection window.

Participant Demographics

There were initially 68 survey responses. The responses were analyzed to ensure they met the study criteria, South Carolina K-12 public school teachers employed for at least the last five years. This includes the 2018-2019, 2019-2020, 2020-2021, 2021-2022, and 2022-2023 school years. Eight survey responses were removed because they did not fit the parameters of the study resulting in 60 responses. Two were removed because they were not currently teaching in a South Carolina public K-12 school. Three were removed because they were not classroom teachers (two were interventionists and one was a media specialist). Three were removed because they did not teach during the specified years.

The resulting data set (N=60) (Table 1) is comprised of thirteen males (21.7%) and forty-six (77.7%) females and one who did not identify their gender (1.6%). This is comparable with the state and national gender makeup of the general teacher population. In the 2017-2018 school year, the national teacher population was 76% female and 24% male (NCES, 2020); South

Carolina, data from the 2018-2019 school year indicates that 81% of the teacher population was female and 19% were male (Dickenson et al., 2020), indicating that the current study participants are representative of the larger teacher population.

The ages of participants ranged from 22-60+ years old. The majority or (54.9%) of respondents (n = 33) were between 41 and 55 years old; only 10% of respondents were 30 or younger (n = 6). The levels of teaching experience amongst survey respondents are close to a normal distribution with the average respondent having between 16-25 years of experience. Most of the respondents (n = 50) or 83.4%, were from middle or secondary grade levels (grade 6-12). The content area data shows a further breakdown of the secondary teachers. There is a fairly even distribution of English, math, science, and social studies, with other areas like career and technology, performing arts, and Special Education teachers. This indicates that although there is an overrepresentation of secondary teachers, this sample is diverse in terms of content area representation.

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Respondents

Characteristic	n = 60	%
Gender		
Male	13	21.7
Female	46	77.7
No Answer	1	1.6
Age		
22-25	2	3.3
26-30	4	6.7
31-35	5	8.3

36-40	6	10.0
41-45	11	18.3
46-50	8	13.3
51-55	14	23.3
56-60	6	10.0
60+	4	6.7
Years of Teaching Experience		
1-4	3	5.0
5-10	13	21.7
11-15	6	10.0
16-20	13	21.7
21-25	12	20.0
26-30	8	13.3
31-39	5	8.3
Grade Level		
Pk-5	9	15.0
5-6	1	1.6
6-8	37	61.7
9-12	13	21.7
Content Area		
English Language Arts	10	16.7
Math	5	8.3
Science	9	15.0
Social Studies	11	18.3
Special Education	5	8.3
World Language	2	3.3
Performing Arts	5	8.3
Physical Education	1	1.6
All Subjects	3	5.0

Career and Technology	7	11.7
Education		
Other	2	3.3

Participant responses were almost evenly split regarding the survey question, *Have you* actively looked for another job in the past year? (Table 2). 51.7% (n = 31) indicated they had actively looked for another job and 45% (n = 27) indicated they had not.

Table 2

Job Search

	n = 60	%
Yes	31	51.7
No	27	45.0
Missing	2	3.3

School Information

Teachers from suburban schools made up the majority of responses with 66.7% (n = 40) respondents; 25% (n = 15) of teachers identified their schools as rural, and only 8.3% (n = 5) of respondents were from urban schools. 51.7% (n = 31) of respondents identified their school as an HNS with the remaining 48.3% (n = 29) indicated their school was not a HNS.

Demographic Analysis

Demographic data was checked for collinearity to ensure that there is no correlation amongst the demographic variables and increase the reliability of the study. A two-tailed bivariate correlation was conducted to determine the Pearson's r correlation coefficients (Table 3); it suggests no significant relationship existed between the demographic variables of gender,

community classification, HNS, number of years taught, and grade level as compared with the dependent variable (DV) or the likelihood to be teaching in the next three years.

Table 3Demographic Variable Correlation

		Gender	Community	HNS	# Yrs. Taught	Grade	DV
Gender	r	1	015	.068	.123	013	067
	p		.911	.609	.353	.926	.624
	N	59	59	59	59	54	55
Community	r	015	1	.191	069	.060	.146
	p	.911		.144	.599	.664	.281
	N	59	60	60	60	55	56
HNS	r	.068	.191	1	.222	004	.151
	p	.609	.144		.088	.979	.267
	N	59	60	60	60	55	56
# Years Taught	r	.123	069	.222	1	070	002
	p	.353	.599	.088		.614	.990
	N	59	60	60	60	55	56
Grade	r	013	.060	004	070	1	142
	p	.926	.664	.979	.614		.321
	N	54	55	55	55		51
Dependent Variable ^a	r	067	.146	.151	002	142	1
	p	.624	.281	.267	.990	.321	
	N	55	56	56	56	51	56

Note. This was a Pearson (*r*) Correlation.

^a Dependent Variable: On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next 3 years?

Data Analysis

The quantitative data was analyzed first to determine frequencies, mean, mode, and standard deviation (Table 4). Then a multiple linear regression factor analysis (Appendix C) and Pearson correlation (Table 6) was conducted to determine statistical significance and factor relationships. The qualitative data was analyzed and coded to identify overarching themes. The research questions are addressed by triangulating the qualitative and quantitative data. Research question two is presented as a thematic analysis.

Workplace Factor Correlation

The mean for each overall philosophical construct as well as the mean for each individual survey item was calculated, along with the standard deviation, and mode (Table 4). An item with a mode of 5 suggests that the majority of the participants agree that item is a source of extreme stress, even though the overall mean may be much lower than a 5. This may be more reflective of general teacher perceptions.

Student Stressors had the highest mean score of 3.82 out of 5; within this construct the individual survey item, I feel frustrated attempting to teach students who are poorly motivated, had the highest mean value (X=4.48; SD=.75). The Student Stressor construct also had the most individual items with a mode of 5, representing Major [stress] strength; extremely noticeable. Three of the four survey items had a mode of 5, suggesting the most respondents experience the most stress regarding student stressors.

COVID-19 had the second highest stress mean score (M = 3.7). It is likely that the COVID-19 disruptions amplified classroom-related stressors (Kaden, 2020). Within this construct, technology seems to be the most stressful individual factor; *Technology demands have*

increased since COVID-19 had a mean score of 3.9 out of a possible 5. Working in isolation from home, no longer face-to-face with students, teachers were suddenly challenged to adapt lessons often requiring them to learn new technology and/or pedagogies very quickly with very little instruction. The response to COVID-19 thrust teachers into the world of online learning, with little to no experience with this learning modality; they reported that all aspects of planning instruction and assessment were more challenging and made them feel less effective and unsuccessful (Huck & Zhang, 2021).

The constructs of *Workload* and *Motivation* both had a mean score of 3.6 out of a possible score of 5. Two items within the *Workload* construct, *There is too much work to do* and *Administrative or non-instructional related tasks take up too much of my time*, had the highest reported mean scores of 3.9 and 3.8 respectively. The perceived stress of workload and the motivational items related to stress and salary (M = 3.6) and stress and respect (M = 3.6) suggest that teachers do not feel adequately compensated for the amount of work they do.

Personal Health (M = 3.2), Administrator Support (M = 3), and Professional Investment (M = 3) were the lowest rated workplace stressors. However each construct had one item with a mean score of 3.5 or higher respectively; My job causes me anxiety regularly (M = 3.8); I feel frustrated that I am not supported by administration regarding student discipline (M = 3.5), and I feel frustrated when my personal opinions are not valued (M = 3.72) This indicates that the teacher perceived stress of particular item was moderately to very noticeable.

Table 4Construct Item Means (N=60)

	M	SD	Mode
Workload	3.6	1.1	3.3

There is little time to prepare for my lessons/responsibilities	3.3	1.3	3
There is too much work to do	3.9	1.1	5
Administrative or non-instructional related tasks take up too much of my time	3.8	1.3	5
I must often take work home or stay late; taking time away from personal life/family	3.4	1.5	5
COVID-19	3.7	1.0	4
Teacher workload has increased as compared to workload prior to COVID-19	3.8	1.2	5
The amount of administrative paperwork or other non-instructional duties has increased since COVID-19	3.5	1.2	4
Technology demands have increased since COVID-19	3.9	1.0	4
Motivation	3.6	1.0	3
I lack recognition for the extra work and/or good teaching I do	3.2	1.4	3
I receive an adequate salary for the work I do	3.6	1.4	5
I need more status and respect on my job	3.6	1.3	5
Student Stressors	3.8	1.0	5
I feel frustrated because of discipline problems in my classroom	3.9	1.2	5
I feel frustrated when my authority is rejected by students	3.9	1.2	5
I feel frustrated attempting to teach students who are poorly motivated	4.5	.7	5
I have felt disrespected or intimidated by my students	3.1	1.4	4
Administrative Support	3.0	.9	3
I feel frustrated that I am not supported by administration regarding student discipline	3.5	1.3	5
I feel that administrators make my job harder	3.0	1.4	4
Administrators make sure I have the resources (materials, technology, etc.) I need to be successful in the classroom	2.7	1.4	1
	+	1.4	3
My administration provides relevant and timely professional development to support my instructional needs	2.8	1.4	
	3.0	1.0	3

I feel frustrated when my personal opinions are not valued	3.7	1.3	5
I fear administrative retribution for openly expressing concerns about issues in my school	3.0	1.5	1
I have felt intimidated by my principal or member of the administrative team	2.3	1.6	1
I collaborate with and value my coworkers	2.8	1.6	1
Personal Health	3.2	.9	4
I feel valued as a person by administration	2.9	1.4	1
My job causes me anxiety regularly	3.8	1.2	5
I am given adequate time to take care of my personal needs during the day	3.4	1.4	5
My principal is sympathetic to my (emotional/physical) needs	2.9	1.5	1

Regression Analysis

The descriptive analysis helps to provide an overall picture of the workplace factor constructs that teacher's perceive as the most stressful. To determine the most salient factors in teacher attrition, a multiple linear regression was conducted examining the relationship between the dependent variable, *On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next 3 years*, and the independent variables as measured by construct means. Results (Table 5) show that there is a significant relationship between intent to teach and *Student Stressors* with a value of p = .015. This indicates that teachers become more likely to quit teaching as stress with students increases. The workplace factor construct regression had an $R^2 = .264$ (Table 6). Indicating that the variable means are representative for over a quarter of the population.

Table 5Workplace Factor Construct Regression

	В	SE B	β	t	p
Variable	16.013	2.630		6.089	<.001
Constant					
Workload	366	.542	119	675	.503
COVID-19	1.088	.593	317	-1.833	.073
Motivation	596	.571	172	-1.046	.301
Student Stressor	1.156	.456	334	-2.536	.015
Administrator Support	1.324	.814	.358	1.625	.111
Professional Investment	.018	.752	.005	.023	.981
Personal Health	573	.646	158	886	.380

^a Dependent Variable: On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next 3 years?

Table 6Workplace Factor Construct Regression Model Summary

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error	R Square Change	df
1	.514	.264	.157	3.070	.264	7

Qualitative Coding and Theme Development

Triangulation through the mixed methods design, collection, and analysis of quantitative and qualitative data enhance understanding of inconsistent or contradictory findings (Mathison,

^b Independent Variables: Workload, COVID-19, Motivation, Student Stressors, Administrative Support, Professional Investment, and Personal Health

1988). All qualitative data was input into the Dedoose[©] coding software. The qualitative data was coded initially with versions of the construct names: *Workload, COVID-19, Motivation, Student Behavior, Administration, Professional Investment,* and *Personal Health*. As more data was analyzed these starter codes were subdivided into more specific codes as necessary.

Once the comments were coded, the qualitative comments were analyzed using the code count matrix and the code cloud feature. The code count matrix was used to identify codes with the highest frequencies. The Student Stressors and Workload codes each had over 145 comments, which were two to three times as many comments as any other code. These codes were further examined and thematically organized into subcodes. Two codes were original starter codes reflecting theoretical survey constructs: Administrator Support and COVID-19. However, after reviewing the qualitative comments themselves, administrator support and COVID-19, were so interwoven into the two predominate codes of *Student stressors* and Workload, they could not be individually separated, but must be addressed as unifying subcodes within the construct. This process resulted in the following dominant themes: Student Concerns and Overworked. The Student Concerns theme encompasses other noted variables that contribute to concerns with students, including student inappropriate behavior, student motivation, COVID-19, parents, and administrator support. The Overworked theme ranges from stress with excessive paperwork, lack of time, work-life balance, COVID-19, unnecessary meetings, and irrelevant professional development.

Student Concerns Theme

The *Student Concerns* theme encompassed various aspects of student behavior in the classroom. The initial workplace factor construct regression (Table 6) identified the *Student Stressors* construct as a significant factor (p = .015) in the decision to quit teaching. To gain a

better understanding of teacher perceptions, another linear regression was performed to analyze specific items comprising the *Student Stressors* construct.

This regression (Table 7) revealed that classroom discipline problems were statistically significant with a value of p = .032. Classroom discipline problems are student behaviors that disrespectful or inappropriate and interrupt or detract from the learning process. This is consistent with the qualitative responses and other research that claims that the overall student behavioral climate of a school is the most important determinant of teacher attrition (Kelly & Northrop, 2015).

Table 7Student Stressors Regression

	В	SE B	β	t	p
Variable	13.761	2.663		5.168	<.001
Constant					
Discipline	-1.085	.493	393	-2.202	.032
Problems					
Students	1.229	.667	.451	1.844	.071
Reject					
Authority					
Student	-1.328	.707	293	-1.879	.066
Motivation					
Student	627	.442	267	-1.418	.162
Disrespect					

(DV: On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next 3 years)

The discipline problems item was related to specific student classroom behaviors. Many of the qualitative comments provided examples of general disrespectful experiences.

• Student behavior...students telling the teacher to shut up, disregarding the rules, parents not holding children accountable...

When students say rude comments or behave in ways that display a lack of respect towards teachers, it is demoralizing for the teacher and can lead to feelings of ineffectiveness. In addition, if teachers feel they are not supported by parents or administration, it may lead to feelings of hopelessness and teacher apathy. Student behavioral problems and lack of support has been noted as a contributing factor of teacher job dissatisfaction that can lead to higher attrition rates (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018).

• Students frequently disrespect teachers. I see it daily. It's frustrating when a student is actively doing something that should be address[ed] in the hallway/cafeteria and when you address it, the student ignores you like you didn't say anything. In the classroom, the defiance and disrespect is much worse in recent years than it was in my early years teaching.

This comment indicates that some students willfully violate school rules and when teachers try to enforce the rules, they are completely ignored. This may show a growing mindset of disrespect towards teachers and authority. Teacher perceptions indicated that student defiance and disrespect towards teachers is worsening.

Some responses resulted in the identification of an additional subcode related to students and electronics. Several examples of disrespectful classroom behavior were related to different devices, both personal and school provided.

Student's behavior, particularly dealing with electronic devices has become unbearable as students are addicted to the phones to the point of arguing about being

on them in class. Students will outright ignore a staff member when told to correct actions and then become belligerent when confronted on the behavior.

Devices such as cell phones, earbuds, and Apple watches are commonplace in most classrooms today. These devices are easily concealed and can become distracting to students and the learning process. In the past, teachers could see students passing notes, but today, they can send and receive text messages from their watches. Students can hide an earbud and be watching videos on their phones under their desks. All of the digital distractors can be more engaging than classroom instruction. Teachers may become discouraged when their time spent planning engaging lessons is unappreciated. These issues in addition to other inappropriate behaviors can lead to emotional exhaustion for teachers because they spend much of their time dealing with classroom management rather than teaching content. These factors, coupled with poor support from administration can undermine the effectiveness of the teacher in the classroom.

Another response referenced disrespect for the teacher and school provided Chromebook but continued to encompass another reoccurring concern with student classroom behavior, motivation.

Student behavior and lack of respect from students is a top stressor. For example, a student told me that she shouldn't have to do work outside of school including charging her Chromebook. She told me that wasn't her job to charge it outside of school. Students also just flat out don't do class assignments when they are assigned. They will sit in class, try to get on their phones, and simply do nothing instead of the work assigned.

Intentional non-learners are not new in education. In the past these students may not have done their homework or attempted work during class. Innovations in technology along with the demands of COVID-19 school shutdowns necessitated a massive switch to technology dependent-curriculum. Lessons are dependent on the use of these devices, so when the students do not bring them, or refuse to charge the devices, learning is affected. Either the student is unable to participate in the online activities or these behaviors add additional work for the teacher. When students are not motivated and do not take responsibility for their learning by coming to class prepared, the teacher must constantly have alternative plans for students who do not have their school provided device. The responsibility to charge the device is shifted to the teacher who must now either charge the students' laptops or provide the capabilities for charging, often at the teacher's expense. This behavior, if habitual, erodes the respect for the teacher and the educational process.

Student Motivation and COVID-19

Although the student motivation item did not meet the accepted <.05 threshold of statistical significance with a p = .066, this item was rated as extremely stressful by 61.7% (n = .07) of participants; suggesting it is an item that contributed to teacher stress levels regarding student stressors. Research has shown that low levels of student motivation and engagement increases teacher stress (Farmer, 2020; Tye & O'Brien, 2002). The qualitative responses on student behavior included several specific mentions of student motivation as a stressor. Often, teacher concerns with disruptive and off-task comments are met with the assertion that if they provide engaging lessons, student inappropriate behavior will decrease. This places the responsibility for student behavior squarely on the teacher without encouraging student responsibility. Teacher frustration with this concept was evident in the following response.

My top stressor is poor student behavior and motivation. It doesn't matter how well planned, efficient, and creative lessons are if students refuse to do the work, are apathetic and the behavior is so poor that the entire class period is spent trying to manage problem behavior. Intentional non-learners have always been an issue, but they are becoming more and more the rule rather than the exception.

Other comments also supported the notion that students are intentionally choosing not to engage in the learning process. Student apathy and lack of motivation can lead to emotional fatigue in teachers; instead of getting to teach, some teachers may feel more like babysitters who are there to police behavior. Emotional fatigue in high stress classrooms can contribute to teacher turnover (Farmer, 2020).

Another response, reflective of several comments, equated student motivation with policies that were established in response to COVID-19.

It seems as though students are not motivated to complete their work. Since they were given additional time to complete work and turn in assignments, they do not think deadlines are real. Many students also simply do not do assignments in class if they aren't graded. They think they do not have to do anything unless it is for a grade. This whole mindset has really changed since COVID-19, and it has made teaching extra challenging."

Several responses linked student, motivation, COVID-19, and parents, as exemplified by the following: *Many students post COVID have little motivation and do not seem to understand deadlines. Parents still use COVID as an excuse for student behavior issues and lack of effort.*

The COVID-19 shutdowns and following shifts in instructional modalities required schools and teachers to be very lenient regarding student deadlines and work. This was done to relieve stress of parents and students, especially those with lack of Internet access or other resources necessary for learning. Participant responses indicate that students (and parents) seem to be struggling with completing work and meeting due dates as schools return to traditional schedules and expectations. If parents continue to enable a lackadaisical attitude towards schoolwork, teachers are undermined and discouraged. The parents inadvertently empower students to procrastinate or not do work because they know parents will complain to the teacher or administration to get their way. This can cause additional stress and work for the teacher. Teachers expect occasional misbehavior, but when students choose to not do the work, this creates an environment that is contrary to reasonable expectations. When teachers have experiences that do not match expectations, there is a higher probability they will leave the profession (Rinke, 2013).

Administrator Support

While many of the environmental factors were positively correlated, the student stressor construct was positively correlated to just one other construct, administrative support r(60) = .272, p = .035. This suggested that as teacher stress levels with student stressors increased, so did the stress levels with administrative support. Some of the reported student behaviors are outright threatening to teachers. When threatening behaviors towards teachers are dismissed by administrators it creates real concerns for personal safety for the teachers and other students in the classroom. Teachers are much more likely to leave a school with disruptive and/or hostile students (Kelly & Northrop, 2015).

- Student threatened my life last year and remained in my class. Admin said he was "just joking". His punishment was a day of ISS and to copy an apology letter the AP wrote. Kid continued to bully the class for the reminder of the year.
- I wrote a referral for a student who walked into my classroom with both middle fingers held up in the air and walked all the way across my room this way towards another student. All of the students in the classroom saw this as well. The student was not punished at all. A "conference" was given.

These comments illustrate a hostile work environment in which teachers may feel unsafe. This jeopardizes the safety of other students as well, by allowing bullying or threatening behaviors. The middle finger held in the air is a phallic symbol, referred to as "flipping the bird"; it is an aggressive gesture used to intimidate others. It is very likely that the teacher and possibly some students in this classroom felt disrespected and intimidated. Students may not want to go to that class in the future to avoid the aggressive student. The physical and psychological well-being of teachers and students are affected by school safety concerns (Boyd et al., 2011).

When administrators minimize verbal or physical threats and make excuses, teachers feel that the administration does not value their feelings or personal safety. In the above example, the only consequence for a threatening gesture was a "talk" with the administrator. This consequence does not seem proportional to the offense. The apparent inconsequential magnitude of the punishment negates teacher feelings and works to create a negative behavioral environment. Another study revealed the behavioral climate of the school as the major determinant of teacher attrition (Kelly & Northrop, 2015).

• Students are given multiple chances to change behavior and do not. They disrupt the learning of the majority of students but administrators do not see the need to

expel students. This leads to dissatisfaction with my job. One assistant principal does not follow district discipline procedures and is a main cause why many teachers left

Inconsistency of administrative discipline policies can result in increased teacher stress. When students have the perception teachers have no power and that there are zero to minimal consequences, teacher morale and job satisfaction are affected. Teachers who reported that their administrators were not supportive with students are twice as likely to quit than those with supportive administrators (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016).

Overworked

The theme Overworked was identified by analyzing the qualitative responses even though a regression analysis of the *Workload* construct mean resulted in a p value of .503, well above the significance threshold of <.05. Although the regression did not show significance, a factor correlation indicated that there was a positive relationship between workload and COVID-19, r(60) = .520, p = <.001; between workload and motivation, r(60) = .452, p = <.001; between workload and administrative support, r(60) = .570, p = <.001; between workload and professional investment, r(60) = .600, p = <.001; and between workload and personal health, r(60) = .499, p = <.001. This suggested that as the stress level for workload goes up, it also goes up for the identified areas of significance. The qualitative results supported the correlation and the significant relationships. *Workload* continually reoccurred in the qualitative comments. The *Workload* comments were subdivided into paperwork and time codes. Workload was described as a top stressor and was also linked to COVID-19.

The following participant comments illustrated a perception of being overworked.

COVID-19 and administration requirements were so interwoven, they could not be separated.

This feeling of being overworked, seemed to affect personal lives and feelings of efficacy at times.

- We are overburdened with meetings, paperwork and other non-instructional tasks. I spend so much time trying to provide documentation that I am a good teacher that I lack to the time to BE the best teacher I can be. There are days that I come to school and have to make a conscious choice regarding which part of my job I'm going to do poorly that day because I literally can't do everything required of me.
- There is so much more to teaching than just teaching. The amount of tasks that are given to teachers to complete makes it difficult to find time to prepare for and teach. The number of meetings that teachers are required to attend gets higher each year. The amount of documentation and paperwork is suffocating. The new initiatives that you are required to weave in to the classroom structure each day is overwhelming at times.

Teachers are so burdened with unnecessary meetings, excessive documentation, and overwhelming paperwork seemingly related to non-instructional tasks, that they report not having time to adequately plan for classes. All of these additional non-instructional tasks, like professional development (PD) and documentation is aimed at increasing academic outcomes, but in reality, it is negatively impacting a teacher's ability to prepare quality lessons that may actually increase academic outcomes. Teachers are forced to decide which parts of their jobs they are going to do well and let others slide because they physically cannot complete everything expected of them.

- Planning is taken away for meetings and not enough time when I teach 2 subjects. Always have to work past contract hours.
- There is never enough time to get everything done that needs to be done! A previous question asked if I take work home. I finally stopped doing that. If I can't get it done during work hours, it won't get done and I am okay with that now.

A teacher workday is typically from 8:00 a.m. to 3:30 p.m., however, many teachers find themselves putting in much more time because the amount of work requires working excess hours that may take away from personal time and family that can lead to burnout. When demands are consistently more than a person can handle, the resultant stress likely leads to emotional exhaustion and burnout (Aguilar, 2018). Excessive workload and the inability to achieve work-life balance was given as a top reason for leaving the classroom. Teachers described the constant challenge of balancing job duties and home life as being detrimental to their ability to teach (Helmke, 2020).

• Since Covid, many more requirements, especially with technology, have been added to my plate but nothing has been taken away.

COVID-19 shifts in school instruction relied heavily on technology as the means of instructional delivery. Many teachers had to learn several new technologies in a very short period of time. The responses indicated that since COVID-19, the technology demands have remained, but no other classroom requirements or district initiatives have been removed. The increased professional demands and workload on teachers without providing adequate time or removing previously existing responsibilities led to the "intensification" of stress (Santoro, 2018).

- Workload stressors are never-ending. Last week alone, I did not have a single day of my entire planning time to accomplish tasks that I needed to get done. At least a portion of my time was taken each day due to meetings, pd, or other events/tasks.
- Workload is never ending. Everything gets put on the teacher's plate to do...progress monitoring, differentiating instruction and planning all the different ways to teach every student, large class sizes mean more work, data collection, etc...
- Having too much of my planning time taken for professional development or watching other classes because of the lack of substitutes. Because of this I struggle to get my workload accomplished during contract hours.

Professional development (PD) seemed to be common concern. Professional development is intended to provide teachers with relevant skills and training to help them improve teaching practices and current needs (Fischer et al., 2018). However, most of the respondents felt it was simply time consuming and, in fact, was detrimental to their ability to teach. PD and other meetings were perceived as nonessential time wasters that lead to increased stress because they take time away from perceived essentials such as planning or grading. A recent study found that teachers do not feel that the PD they receive prepare them for institutional changes or improve student achievement (Hicks, 2020).

Teachers are feeling drained because more tasks are required to be completed in the same amount of time. Larger class sizes mean more students, which in turn means the need for individualized instruction to meet each student's developmental and learning needs, which requires more planning and differentiation. Unfortunately, the time is being constantly taken away for tasks that do not improve the quality of instruction.

Just as there is a teacher shortage, some schools are having difficulty finding substitute teachers to cover classes for teachers who are out sick. This responsibility too, has fallen on other teachers, who must give up planning periods to cover classes, or the students are divided up and distributed to other classrooms, causing disturbances to the learning process in those classes as well. This could lead to stress and resentment that may impact overall job satisfaction.

In the context of this study, extrinsic motivators are defined as tangible, external compensation or reward. Conversely, intrinsic motivators are defined as factors that build capacity and engagement by satisfying internal feelings self-actualization (Di Domenico & Ryan, 2017).

Extrinsic Motivators. Two survey items addressed extrinsic motiviators: I lack recognition for the extra work and/or good teaching I do (M = 3.18 and Mode = 3); and I receive an adequate salary for the work I do (M = 3.62 and a Mode = 5). The qualitative responses supported the moderate stress responses, "I don't personally look for external recognition or motivators, but many do and they have often expressed that they feel unappreciated and even invisible." This response indicated that not all of the participants need external validation or recognition to stay motivated, although some do. While extrinsic motivation of recognition may be important for some, it does not seem to be particularly impactful on overall stress levels or the desire to quit teaching.

Even though 61.7% (n = 37) of participants indicated that salary caused them great to extreme stress, only 4 specifically discussed salary in the qualitative question asking repondents to describe their top three stressors with the following: "Ridiculously low salaries for someone of my education and experience"; "It is hard to be satisfied in a job where you don't always see immediate results, and don't make enough money to actually enjoy yourself on your time off.";

"Covid 19 has made all parts of the community stressed, however, parents, students and administration (school and district level) expect more with less compensation. For example, I received \$680 raise this year from the district and workload doubled." This would seem to imply that although most teachers feel they deserve to be paid more, salary alone is not a significant factor in consideration of leaving the profession.

Intrinsic Motivators. Three survey items were related to intrinsic motivation and the stress teachers experienced as a result. "I need more status and respect on my job" (M = 3.57; Mode = 5); "I lack control over decisions made about classroom/school matters" (M = 3.12; Mode = 3); and "I feel frustrated when my personal opinions are not valued" (M = 3.72; Mode = 5). The means of the intrinsic motivation items indicated only moderate perceived stress. There were very few qualitative comments related to intrinsic motivators of respect and input, and no comments specifically about personal opinions being valued. The few responses indicated a sense of helplessness or of not being considered professionals in the field of education, as evidenced by the following: "I feel my input is useless."

Unlike another study that found teacher retention and job satisfaction are higher when teachers are involved in the decision-making processes (Flitchett et al., 2021); the results of the current study appeared to indicate that decision making ability in the classroom was not as important to teachers as having their personal opinions valued. The distinction may be explained by teachers' understanding that often decisions about classroom and school policies come from the district or state level and there is not much they cannot do to change things. Whereas, at the building level, teachers would like to feel that their opinion matters and administrators listen and respect them as evidenced by the following response: "My second top stressor is lack of respect

for my role as a teacher. We are constantly being bombarded with how awful teachers are, how we don't know how to do our jobs and are lazy."

The (teacher) *Motivation* construct, was comprised of two extrinsic items and one intrinsic item, was not significant on a regression analysis with p = .30. The mean of the motivation contruct was 3.46 with the majority of respondents rating the item a 3 on the stress response scale. Two additional items in the *Professional Investment* construct also measured intrinsic motivators of teacher input (M = 3.12; Mode = 3) and value of opinions (M = 3.72; Mode = 5). These combined results suggested that generally extrinsic and intrinsic motivators had a medium affect on teacher stress levels and were only moderately noticeable.

Summary

Analyzing the relationship between the various workplace factors and teacher stress led to the development of overarching themes necessary to answer the research questions. The convergent mixed methods design required analysis of the quantitative and qualitative data simultaneously. Themes were determined using both statistical regressions, correlations, and qualitative coding analytics. The independent concurrent data types provided internal verification of the findings through the triangulation process.

The data analysis seems to indicate that the most relevant factors in teacher attrition are student concerns and workload. The detailed results may enable educational leaders to understand specific how workplace factors influence teacher stress that and may result in higher teacher attrition. Understanding the motivations to leave the professional can assist in the development of programs and supports to meet teacher needs and increase teacher retention. The

next chapter will discuss implications of the findings, recommendations for future research and conclusion of the study.

Chapter 5 Discussion

There is a nationwide shortage of qualified teachers, that has continued to increase at an alarming rate. In 2017, 40 states reported shortages in certain subjects and almost 70% of districts surveyed did not have enough qualified candidates for position openings, more than double the rate reported in 2014 (Sutcher et al., 2019). Approximately 90% of all teacher shortages are caused by teacher attrition (Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2019). Teacher attrition is a national challenge for the educational system, with turnover being the highest in the Southern United States (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Diliberti et al., 2021; Ingersoll, 2001).

The current study surveyed public school K-12 teachers in South Carolina to gain an understanding of workplace factors that contribute to teacher's intentions to leave the profession. The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated an already serious problem, with more teachers reporting increased stress levels and more frequent considerations of leaving the profession (Zammarro et al., 2022). This study defines teacher attrition as the act of a teacher quitting or leaving a position at a school, to include teachers that have left the profession entirely or continued to teach at a different school or in a different district.

Teacher attrition affects student achievement, school climate, and results in increased financial cost to schools and districts (Barnes et al., 2007; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond. 2017; Garcia & Weiss, 2019). Research shows that instructional quality and student well-being is directly related to teacher well-being (Seyle et al., 2013; Sharifian & Kennedy, 2019). Failing to retain teachers by ignoring their emotional wellbeing has greater implications. In South Carolina, there is a correlation between teacher vacancies and student achievement; districts with higher

teacher vacancies tend to also have lower student test scores on the South Carolina state mandated exams (Dickenson et al., 2021).

It is important to note that while some literature suggests teacher attrition is driven by financial motivation (Ramos & Hughes, 2020; Sutcher et al., 2016), a recent study found stress to be the most common reason for leaving the profession before and during the COVID-19 pandemic, with nearly half of those participants indicating that teaching was not worth the stress, while only 28% blamed low pay (Diliberti et al., 2021). A survey of 1000 teachers who left their positions in 2020 cited stress at a rate of two to one over wages; in many cases, these individuals left for jobs of equal or lesser pay; 30% went on to work in jobs with no health insurance or retirement benefits (Diliberti et al., 2021).

Organizational factors have a significant influence on teacher stress and job satisfaction. Some research suggests that teachers are leaving not because of personal attributes or even student characteristics, but because of "school level factors" (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). Stress and inability to manage stressors are some of the top reasons teachers leave the profession (Aguilar, 2018; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017). Some leading reasons identified by teachers who quit are dissatisfaction, concerns with administration, lack of input in instructional decision making, accountability demands, and other working conditions (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). These findings suggest that factors other than money are critical to keeping teachers in the classroom and must be addressed.

This study measures teacher stress perceptions of workplace factors as the relational theoretical lens to determine teacher intention to leave the profession or the likelihood of attrition. Teacher stress is dependent upon environmental interactions between the individual and environment influenced by social and institutional support factors (Jarvis, 2002; Lazarus &

Folkman, 1984; Saeki et al., 2018). Understanding how teacher stress manifests can provide clues to the underlying reasons why teachers are leaving the classroom.

Determining how workplace environmental factors contribute to teacher intention to leave and/or teacher attrition, and identifying underlying causes of teacher stress, could lead to pragmatic solutions and have a meaningful impact on teacher retention. Teacher attrition has many subjective causes that cannot be understood completely through one theoretical framework, therefore, taking a grounded theory approach will allow the data to explain and capture the complexity of the issue.

Teacher intent to leave was measured using teacher perceived stress levels using a mixed methods survey instrument. The quantitative and qualitative data were used to validate the study findings through triangulation in an effort to address three research questions: (1) What is the relationship between workplace environmental factors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and teacher stress? (2) How do workplace environmental stressors influence teacher attrition (intent to leave the profession)? And (3) How do intrinsic and extrinsic factors influence teacher stress level? This chapter presents a discussion of the study findings, implications, and recommendations for action and further study.

Limitations

This study has several limitations. The generalizability of this study may be questioned due to the small sample size (N=60); although the study was over the accepted validity threshold. The recommended sample size for a quantitative population survey is a minimum of 30 participants necessary for correlational analysis (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2018). The minimum sample size recommendation for a grounded theory research design is 20-30 (Creswell, 2007).

All participants are from South Carolina, but the survey itself was distributed statewide to members of the Palmetto State Teachers Association. This group has a \$149 a year dues requirement that may prevent some teachers from joining. If teachers do not have a lot of disposable income, they may be less inclined to join an organization due to a phenomenon known as temporal discounting, which occurs when a future result (organizational membership that may or may not be beneficial) is not valued as much as something they presently have (\$149) (Duan, et al., 2017). Therefore, the delivery method itself may have inadvertently selected a population with similar viewpoints and socio-economic status. There is a possibility that response bias occurred, as teachers that chose to respond may have differing perceptions than the general population of teachers.

The overrepresented number of secondary level educators completing the survey could influence the results. Most of the respondents (n = 50) or 83.4%, were from middle or secondary grade levels (grade 6-12). Research suggests that secondary teachers tend to leave their jobs at higher rates than elementary teachers, with middle school teachers in particular leaving at the highest rates (Brill & McCartney, 2008; Guarino et al., 2006; Hughes, 2012). Overall feelings of dissatisfaction may be responsible for the overrepresentation of secondary teachers, specifically middle school, which could skew the findings. Further research with a broader sample may increase the generalizability of the findings.

Interpretation of Findings

The results of the study indicate that the most relevant factors in teacher attrition are student stressors and workload. The qualitative data suggests that both workplace factors are more complex than at first glance and have been compounded since COVID-19. Lack of

administrator support was a common thread interwoven throughout the student stressors and workload factor constructs.

RQ1: What is the relationship between workplace factors (workload stressors, motivation, student stressors, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, job satisfaction, and COVID-19) and teacher stress?

Data analysis shows that teachers report the highest stress levels related to student stressors, including student motivation and behavior. Qualitative data explains that higher stress levels associated with technology is not only due to residual COVID-19 instructional demands, but also to student behavior with personal and school provided devices. In addition, COVID-19 has facilitated an increase in perceived stress with teachers describing anxiety related to workload that is intensified by time lost to unnecessary meetings or irrelevant professional development. Qualitative analysis reveals the overarching influence lack of administrative support has on rising stress levels of teachers and the interconnectivity of many of the workplace factors investigated.

Student Stressors

The Student Stressors construct had the highest overall mean score of 3.82 out of 5; I feel frustrated attempting to teach students who are poorly motivated, had the highest mean score (M = 4.48). The Student Stressor construct also had the most individual items with a mode of 5. Three of the four survey items had a mode of 5, suggesting the majority of respondents experience the most stress regarding student stressors. The COVID-19 construct had the second highest stress mean score (M = 3.7). It is likely that the COVID-19 disruptions amplified classroom-related stressors (Kaden, 2020). Within this construct, technology seems to be the most stressful individual factor; with a mean score of 3.9.

Safety concerns affecting the physical and emotional well-being of teachers are on the rise along with increased incidents of school and community violence (Farmer, 2020). Data from the 2015-2016 school year shows that 10% of public-school teachers were threatened by their students with physical injury; 6% of those were subject to physical assaults (NCES, 2022). In January 2022, 44% of teachers surveyed reported student behavior concerns (Mulvahill, 2022). Student behavior had the most qualitative comments than any other issue. Teachers in this study report being cursed out and threatened by students; teachers indicate a general perception that administrators do very little to help control student behavior.

A qualitative analysis of student stressors found that student behavior was closely tied to student motivation and technology (school provided and personal) that has worsened since the COVID-19 pandemic due to lenient student behavioral and academic expectations. 84% of teachers and administrators reported lower morale levels than prior to COVID-19, in large part due to decreased student engagement, adding that they are more likely to leave teaching or retire early, since working during the pandemic (Rosenberg & Anderson, 2021). This study suggests poorly motivated students may not engage with course material and can become intentional non-learners intensifying behavioral stress for teachers to include academic concerns.

Since COVID-19, technology has become embedded in most classrooms from kindergarten to twelfth grade, many schools provide some sort of device for student academic use whether it be an iPad or Chromebook. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, only 40% of elementary students and 60% of middle and high school students were provided a school issued digital learning device. By 2021, public schools reported that 84% of elementary students and 90% of all middle and high school students were given a school supplied device (Bushweller, 2022).

Technology in the classroom (school provided and personal) lead to other stresses for teachers. The qualitative findings from this study indicate that students who are not motivated may not charge devices or bring them to class with the intention to not participate in the lesson. Poorly motivated students can engage in off-task behaviors, including inappropriate use of personal electronic devices such as cell phones, ear buds, and/or Apple watches. Attempts by teachers to address these behaviors may result in defiant or disrespectful behaviors; when coupled with ineffective or non-responsive administrator action leads to working conditions that are extremely stressful and can lead to burn out.

Administrative Support

The student stressor construct was positively correlated to just one other construct, administrative support r(60) = .272, p = .035. This suggest that as teacher stress levels with student stressors increased, so did the stress levels with administrative support. Some identified qualitative variables that contribute to concerns with students, include student inappropriate behavior, student motivation, COVID-19, parent, and administrator support. Some of the reported student behaviors are outright threatening to teachers. When threatening behaviors towards teachers are dismissed by administrators it creates real concerns for personal safety for the teachers and other students in the classroom. Teachers are much more likely to leave a school with disruptive and/or hostile students (Kelly & Northrop, 2015).

Student behavior, motivation, and inappropriate use of technology pose classroom challenges that cause significant stress, unfortunately, this study found that that stress can be magnified by perceived lack of administrator support. These results are consistent with other anecdotal explanations for teacher attrition ranging from lack of administrative and parent support, unmotivated students, school violence, and unrealistic workload (Farber, 2010). Student

behavioral problems and lack of support has been noted as a contributing factor of teacher job dissatisfaction that can lead to higher attrition rates (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018).

Workload

Correlational data indicate a strong positive relationship between workload and COVID-19, r(60) = .520, p = <.001. This means that increased stress caused by COVID-19 causes an increase in workload related stress. During the COVID-19 pandemic, 83% of working teachers listed workload as the reason why they may leave in the future, describing it as "unmanageable," "insane," and "extreme" (Perryman & Calvert, 2020).

In addition, there is a strong positive relationship between workload and administrative support r(60) = .570, p = < .001. In other words, as teachers become more stressed with workload, they perceive administrative support as increasingly stressful instead of beneficial. Teachers have the perception that administrators do not understand how unreasonable workload demands effect their personal well-being. A qualitative dissection of the workload construct found that teachers are not only overwhelmed by the amount of work required daily with teaching, differentiated planning, grading, documentation, and technology demands but time necessary to complete these tasks is often taken up with unnecessary meetings or irrelevant professional development. Teacher self-efficacy can be negatively affected if the demands of a job exceed ability potentially resulting in burnout (Jex, 1998).

Teachers overwhelmingly describe an inability to find balance between job duties and home life as being detrimental to their "ability to teach" (Helmke, 2020). Many teachers indicated having to work past contracted work hours to a degree that affected their personal lives. Working long hours causes mental exhaustion and the time away from family may lead to emotional stress. Resulting in moderately positive correlations between workload and

motivation, r(60) = .452, p = <.001, and between workload and personal health, r(60) = .499, p =<.001. Teachers report that increasing workloads without additional compensation are a contributing factor in quitting (Hughes, 2012).

RO2: How do workplace factors influence teacher attrition (intent to leave the profession)?

The results of this study show that there is a significant relationship between the likelihood of not continuing to teach in the next three years and *Student Stressors* with a value of p = .015. The most significant student stressor pertains to classroom discipline problems (p = .015). .032). Teachers who report that their administrators do not provide support with student behavior are twice as likely to quit than those with supportive administrators (Sutcher & Darling Hammond, 2016).

Classroom discipline problems are student behaviors that disrespectful or inappropriate and interrupt or detract from the learning process. This is consistent with the qualitative responses and other research that claims that the overall student behavioral climate of a school is the most important determinant of teacher attrition (Kelly & Northrop, 2015). When administrators minimize verbal or physical threats to teachers and make excuses, teachers feel that the administration does not value their feelings or personal safety. Inconsistency of administrative discipline policies can result in increased teacher stress. School leadership that provides fair and equitable discipline policies "may help mitigate the harmful aspects of external events such as the pandemic on teacher well-being" (Herman, et al., 2021, p. 492).

Workload

Study results indicate that as stress from workload and COVID-19 increase, intent to continue teaching goes down. Data show there is a negative relationship between the item, On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next three years and workload, r(56) = -

.279, p = .037; COVID-19 and r(56) = -.292, p = .029. During the COVID-19 pandemic, 83% of working teachers listed workload as the reason why they may leave in the future, describing it as "unmanageable," "insane," and "extreme" (Perryman & Calvert, 2020). Other studies suggest there is a direct correlation between teacher workload perception and job satisfaction, with excessive workload leading to emotional exhaustion and desire to leave the profession (Toropova et al., 2020).

The qualitative data indicate that other than student behavioral concerns, workload is the second most stressful daily challenge. The comment, *because of the high demands and lack of time to get everything done, I am always tired. Always. I am physically and mentally exhausted all the time,* is indicative of a larger issue. School leaders must take steps to support teachers' professional and personal wellbeing to improve job satisfaction and prevent burnout, resignations, and early retirement (Van der Vyver et al., 2020).

RQ3: How do intrinsic and extrinsic factors influence teacher stress level?

Data indicate that decision making ability in the classroom was not as important to teachers as having their personal opinions valued. The distinction may be explained by teachers' understanding that often decisions about classroom and school policies come from the district or state level and there is not much they can do to change things. Whereas, at the building level, teachers would like to feel that their opinion matters and administrators listen and respect them as evidenced by the following response. "My second top stressor is lack of respect for my role as a teacher. We are constantly being bombarded with how awful teachers are, how we don't know how to do our jobs and are lazy." These responses differ from other research that found teacher retention and job satisfaction are higher when teachers are involved in the decision-making processes (Flitchett et al., 2021).

Extrinsic and intrinsic motivators (as defined by the study) had a medium affect on teacher stress levels and were only moderately noticeable. Even though 61.7% (n = 37) of participants indicated that the extrinsic factor of salary caused them great to extreme stress, only 4 specifically discussed salary in the qualitative question asking repondents to describe their top three stressors. The means of the intrinsic motivation items indicated only moderate perceived stress. There were very few qualitative comments related to intrinsic motivators of respect and input, and no comments specifically about personal opinions being valued suggesting these types of intrinsic motivators are not important stressors.

Implications

South Carolina teacher departures continue to rise; the continuing teacher shortage is leaving more and more classrooms without teachers. In 2022, South Carolina school districts reported a 39% increase in vacant teaching positions (CERRA, 2022b). This has several implications for education in South Carolina, the southeastern United States, and possibly the entire country. The current study found the workplace factors of student stressors and workload are important variables in the decision to leave the teaching profession. Qualitative responses, however, clearly show that COVID-19 and administrator support have a significant influence on teacher perception of stress within these areas.

COVID-19 is responsible for many changes in the educational process. The pandemic necessitated the implementation of many new technologies and policies to provide support for students learning remotely. Typical behavioral and academic expectations were adapted for the unprecedented situation. Teachers are experiencing residual COVID-19 effects that are making daily conditions even more stressful. One respondent in this study summarizes the problem:

Since COVID-19, it seems there is a greater lack of accountability for students. Because they

were constantly "given grace" during COVID and online learning, they still expect to do nothing and pass. With this, instead of placing accountability on students, administration has placed it on teachers. Along with lack of accountability, the lax requirements for students during COVID-19 has impacted student motivation.

Since COVID-19 teachers report more frequent student defiance and general disrespect when they attempt to correct off task behaviors, especially behaviors related to technology. When students were at home during remote learning, many accessed media and technology excessively, including television, computers, smart phones, video games, and social media, often leading to academic procrastination (Turel & Dokumaci, 2022). As students returned to the physical classroom, it seems to have been difficult to stop nonacademic uses of technology during the day. Another study found that students reported that technology devices can be distracting and cause an increase in off-task or inappropriate behaviors in class (Ge, et al., 2021). This is consistent with the findings of this study, in which teachers indicated student behavior and motivation tend to be negatively influenced by personal and school provided devices.

Appropriate expectations for personal and school provided technology must be established and upheld by school leaders to decrease teacher stress and increase student academic outcomes.

Teacher's report that they receive little support from administrators, resulting in a negative school climate and low teacher morale. Administrative support is reported as a major consideration in the decision to leave the profession with one study indicating teachers who describe their administrators as not being supportive being two times as likely to quit than those who considered their administrators to be supportive (Sutcher & Darling Hammond, 2016). Ineffective management policies are the most frequent sources of dissatisfaction and weak management generates dissatisfaction and creates demoralization in the school and district

(Brazer et al., 2019). Improving teacher working conditions has been found directly proportional to increasing teacher retention (Santoro, 2018).

Recommendations for Actions

It is vital that workplace factors contributing to teacher attrition be addressed, to keep quality teachers in the classroom. Teacher stress levels related to certain workplace factors can have significant influence on the decision to leave the teaching profession. In education, the focus is on student outcomes, however, school leaders must consider the importance of the teacher in the process. Teacher wages are a contributing factor of attrition, but teachers listed financial considerations only as the third most significant behind time constraints and local culture respectively (Sutcher & Darling-Hammond, 2016). There are more effective strategies for retaining teachers than token salary increases (Shuls & Flores, 2020).

Provide Differentiated Professional Development

Given the amount of teacher stress related to workload and the wasted time spent in unnecessary and irrelevant meetings, district and school level administrators need to spend more time planning and implementing targeted professional development. Teachers, like the students they teach, are different; they are different ages, have differing levels of experience and content knowledge, varying technological skills, and pedagogical training. A recent study claims that an individualized approach to professional development that allows for teacher choice better fits teacher needs and may even encourage growth (Shuls & Flores, 2020). If the following comment is an indication of how teachers feel, then administration is failing to support teachers. We meet every Monday afternoon after school. We are talked at and not listened to. They ask about policy and procedures and would like input but either don't change or change to what admin said. PD is irrelevant to my teaching.

If daily instruction can be reimagined practically overnight due to COVID-19 to meet the differing needs students, then professional development can be updated to meet the differing needs of teachers. Instead of mandatory meetings during planning or after-school, provide guidelines for professional development requirements monthly. Offer a variety of in-person sessions or online modules that allow teachers to choose topics personally relevant. This would address the following teacher perceptions; *I feel as though we are trying to close the educational gap created by Covid in all the wrong ways. Rather than letting teachers teach, we are focusing on learning models and PD too much; We are required to complete some training that is not relevant to our classroom.*

Teachers do see the value in professional development. A study of recent graduates found professional development received during teacher preparation to be a helpful component in their initial success as an educator (Darden, 2022). This underscores the importance of providing relevant professional development to give teachers the skills they need to be successful in the classroom. A school structure that utilizes a collaborative approach to professional development could increase teacher efficacy and decrease teacher frustration with unnecessary meetings.

Create school-wide professional development committees in which teachers help to identify and plan professional development. Leadership must be willing to adjust their perceived teacher professional development needs based on teacher input, because teachers are on the front lines working with students daily. This would help to empower teachers by providing input on an issue that directly affects them; *Sometimes we make suggestions but they are not heard or not valued by others that are not in the classroom.* Teachers are not only a resource for students, but administrators as well. If positive student behavioral and academic outcomes are the goal,

administrators must listen to teacher concerns and start creating policies to improve working conditions and teacher wellbeing or teachers will continue to leave in high numbers.

Include Teacher Feedback and School Teacher Retention Data in Administrator Evaluations

In a system that is focused on student outcomes, an emphasis is placed on teacher evaluation, but this study provides data that indicates teachers may be more effective if administrators supported them in meaningful ways. School administrators indirectly influence students because their leadership establishes school climate, is responsible for ensuring quality instruction, and is essential in recruiting and retaining teachers (Burkhauser, 2017). One participant comment describes administrator/teacher disconnect; *I have an administrator who has never taught. This seems to often make it hard for her to relate or understand the full responsibilities that come with teaching.* This may be indicative of the need for an evaluation process for administrators that include metrics other than student achievement data.

The current principal evaluation process in South Carolina is the Program for Assisting, Developing, and Evaluating Principal Performance (PADEPP), which focuses on instructional leadership and the principal's role in the academic success and well-being of students. Principals can ensure a quality education for their students by helping teachers provide effective instruction, promoting student learning, and creating a positive environment (Burkhauser, 2017). A recent study found superintendents tend to focus on instructional leadership to evaluate principals, however, principals arguably, have a tangential influence on student achievement, with some studies claiming managerial leadership has more impact on student achievement (Burkhauser, 2017; Donaldson et al., 2021).

It is difficult for district level administrators to know how effective building level administrators are daily. Considering the direct influence administrators have on the daily workplace factors teachers encounter teacher feedback is vital to provide meaningful supports. It also provides insight into how policies are being carried out, as this qualitative comment demonstrates: *This* [unaddressed student behavior] *leads to dissatisfaction with my job. One assistant principal does not follow district discipline procedures and is a main cause why many teachers left.*

Principal evaluations should be expanded to include teacher feedback. A recent study indicates that including and teacher feedback on administrator performance can provide important information that can lead to improvement in school leadership and student achievement (Kozakowski, et al., 2021). When teachers feel that school leaders work to support them, they are more willing to continue facing challenges if it means improved student achievement (Lanbersky, 2016).

There is one important metric missing from the principal evaluation tool in South Carolina: teacher retention and attrition numbers. There are some schools that teachers rarely leave, while there are others with constant teacher exits. Leaders should monitor these numbers for patterns. Effective administrators may be able to provide insight into strategies that may be transferrable to other schools that may be helpful in retaining teachers.

School teacher attrition rates in addition to anonymous teacher feedback about the principal and other building administrators could provide district leaders with insight into turnover rates at individual schools. Studying the leadership at schools that consistently retain teachers could provide specific strategies that may be helpful in assisting principals with frequent teacher turnover. District leadership should focus on changing policies that will keep the teachers they have.

Ensure Supportive, Fair, and Consistent Discipline Policies for Students and Teachers

Administrators' reluctance to address issues dealing with student behavior is adding to teacher stress and will only continue to create the kind of toxic environments from which teachers will continue to flee. For teachers to be able to provide quality instruction, students must have respect for learning and/or the educational leaders, starting with classroom teachers. When inappropriate student behavior is not effectively addressed by administration it undermines the teacher, inadvertently eroding teacher respect and authority. Teachers in this study seem to feel they are fighting a losing battle; I have been cursed out and nothing happened. A student tried to fight the teacher next door to me and nothing happened. Student behaviors have increased as well District policies of just passing kids along when they lack the curricular knowledge to move forward. Kids are being passed that do next to nothing. I am expected to "close the gap" for 60 kids each on different levels with NO additional resources or help.

Teachers are expected to ensure student academic success all while maintaining effective classroom management. The comments show the troubling reality of little behavioral support from administration and no meaningful assistance academically. Teachers feel undermined by administration when students are promoted to the next grade, even though they did not demonstrate the necessary learning outcomes. This practice empowers intentional nonlearners and causes teachers to become less invested in the process.

Administrators may be less willing to address student misbehavior because of some of the standards and domains on the PADEPP. Standard 4 (climate) states "an effective educational leader fosters the success and well-being of each student by advocating, nurturing, and sustaining a positive, equitable climate." Standard 4, criterion 4 states the principal "develops, implements, communicates, and evaluates practices and procedures that align with district policies and address student misconduct in a prompt, unbiased, and effective manner" (SCDOE, n.d.).

However, listed among examples of substantiating evidence are school discipline records, referrals to district office, intervention plans, discipline records, incident reports, and lack of calls to district office. Administrators may choose not to address problem behavior to make it appear that they have fewer number of student discipline issues in order to score higher on the PADEPP.

This may create a dangerous environment for teachers and students alike. When students are allowed to demonstrate aggressive and threatening behavior with minimal to no consequences, teachers believe administrators do not value their safety or emotional wellbeing. The following is one of several troubling qualitative comments reported. *Student threatened my life last year and remained in my class. Admin said he was "just joking". His punishment was a day of ISS and to copy an apology letter the AP wrote. Kid continued to bully the class for the reminder of the year.* With school shootings and violence in news often, it is irresponsible to allow this type of behavior. If administrators are afraid to address student behaviors because of poor evaluations, push back from the district level, or parent demands, there should be a concerted effort to reevaluate contributory policies and build strong partnerships with parents and community to establish a supportive, fair, and consistent discipline policy that protects students and teachers and creates a better learning environment.

Realign District/School Initiatives with Expectations

Teachers feel almost paralyzed by the amount of paperwork and meetings. They view many of these noninstructional daily tasks as actual deterrents to teaching. Leaders must be flexible and open to effective solutions, including letting go of traditional methods and failed initiatives (Morgenthaler, 2020). The teachers in this study are overwhelmed by the excessive workload as represented by the following qualitative comment, *There is so much more to teaching than just*

time to prepare for and teach. The number of meetings that teachers are required to attend gets higher each year. The amount of documentation and paperwork is suffocating. The new initiatives that you are required to weave in to the classroom structure each day is overwhelming at times. Teachers also reported that district and school initiatives can be cumbersome, and they do not always see the value. In fact some policies, although well intended, may be reinforcing problem behaviors.

One such policy pertains to grading. Before COVID-19, many school districts in South Carolina had implemented a "No-zero" grading policy. The basic premise being that a grade of zero disproportionally affects a student's grade, and in fact, may be mathematically impossible to overcome thereby acting as a demotivator for students (Reeves, 2014). This means that teachers cannot give a grade lower than a 50, in some cases a 45, even if the student has done absolutely nothing. The idea of no zeros is supposed to encourage an emphasis on the learning and not the grade, which allowed for incompletes and flexible deadlines (Anderson, 2018). Many teachers feel that this policy has reduced the value of the learning and created an environment in which students and parents expect to be allowed to turn in subpar work, sometimes weeks late, and receive a passing grade.

COVID-19 policies added to the expectation that grades would be given for little to no work. District and school leaders must reevaluate current initiatives and policies that are overburdening the teachers, in particular policies that may be perpetuating student motivational issues by rewarding minimal effort and procrastination. Comments such as *I literally have* students who do not turn in a single assignment in my class all semester, and I am made to override their grade to a 45 when the student should have a zero; and Many students post

COVID have little motivation and do not seem to understand deadlines indicate that teachers in this study find these types of policies to be very stressful and contributory to the decline in motivation and academic achievement of their students.

Recommendations for Further Study

Although the focus was the influence of perceived stress towards specific workplace factors and possible teacher attrition, data collected reveals the need for future study analyzing job satisfaction and teacher wellbeing. A multiple linear regression using the dependent variable of "On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next 3 years" and the independent variables of job anxiety and job satisfaction found that both appeared to have a statistically significant relationship with values of p = .009 and p = .033 respectively. Correlational analysis reveals there is a significant relationship between job satisfaction and student stressors (p = .009) and personal health stressors (p = < .001).

Further study related to the mental and physical health and wellbeing of teachers may be important in the development of a system of support that may retain more teachers. The significant findings regarding job anxiety and the workplace factor construct *personal health stressors* suggest teacher physical and mental wellbeing should be studied more in depth. Several study participants referenced mental health problems. *Being a teacher has caused me to have panic attacks, take medication for anxiety, and seek continued mental health support, Physical and mental wellbeing...the stress has caused me to have panic disorder, major stress, and I am now on medication.* These responses are concerning and show a need to develop protocols dedicated to the mental and physical health of teachers.

Unlike the overall study findings that teacher intrinsic and extrinsic motivators like salary and respect are not the highest contributors to teacher intent to leave, it may be for teachers in a

HNS. A comparison of means using an independent samples t-test there was a significant difference between the HNS classification and the *motivation* construct (p = .018). Indicating that intrinsic and extrinsic motivators are very important to teachers who work at a HNS. This warrants further study as teachers at HNS or school with high poverty are significantly more likely to leave (Geiger & Pivovarova, 2018). Additional study into motivational theory and teachers at HNS could be significant in reducing teacher attrition at these schools. This is important because nationally, schools with a high poverty and/or high minority population tend to have some of the highest teacher turnover (Sutcher etal., 2019).

Conclusion

There is abundant research on teacher stress, job satisfaction, and attrition, however, analyzing attrition through the lens of stress in the post-COVID era provides data that can be used to recommend practical solutions to the mounting problem of teacher attrition. Lawmakers and school leaders often claim factors like retirement, salary, and accountability measures are the reasons for high teacher attrition, however, this is an oversimplification of the issue (Ramos & Hughes, 2020). Stress and inability to manage stressors are some of the top reasons teachers leave the profession (Aguilar, 2018; Carver-Thomas & Darling-Hammond, 2017).

The results of the study indicate that the most relevant factors in teacher attrition are student stressors and workload; the qualitative data suggests that both workplace factors have been compounded since COVID-19. Administrator support, or lack thereof, seem to influence many of the workplace factors that cause teachers the most stress, supporting the view that administrator behavior drives individual workplace factors (Kukla-Acevedo, 2009).

Administrators are extremely important in teacher attrition as they can either mitigate or intensify the most significant workplace factors related to teacher intention to stay or leave the

profession. Lack of administrator support was a common theme that provides the most opportunity for actionable steps to implement policies and strategies that will increase student achievement by keeping qualified teachers in the classroom and reducing high attrition rates.

References

- Adamson, F., Darling-Hammond, L., & Center for American Progress. (2011). Speaking of Salaries: What It Will Take to Get Qualified, Effective Teachers in All Communities.

 In *Center for American Progress*. Center for American Progress.
- Aelterman, A., Engels, N., Van Petegem, K., & Pierre Verhaeghe, J. (2007). The well-being of teachers in Flanders: The importance of a supportive school culture. *Educational Studies*, 33(3), 285–297. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055690701423085
- Aguilar, E. (2018). Onward: Cultivating Emotional Resilience in Educators. Jossey-Bass.
- Algozzine, B., Wang, C., & Violette, A.S. (2011). Reexamining the relationship between academic achievement and social behavior. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 13, 3–16.
- Andela, M., & van der Doef, M. (2018). A comprehensive assessment of the person–environment fit dimensions and their relationships with work-related outcomes. *Journal of Career Development*, 46(5), 567–582. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845318789512
- Anderson, L. W. (2018). A critique of grading: Policies, practices, and technical matters.

 Education Policy Analysis Archives, 26(49). http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.26.3814
- Anderson, L. W. (2021). Schooling interrupted: Educating children and youth in the COVID-19

 ERA. *Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 11(Sp. Issue).

 https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.1128

- Ansari, A., Hofkens, T. L., & Pianta, R. C. (2020). Teacher-student relationships across the first seven years of education and adolescent outcomes. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 71, 101200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2020.101200
- Ansley, B. M., D. Houchins, & K. Varjas. 2019. Cultivating positive work contexts that promote teacher job satisfaction and retention in high needs schools. *Journal of Special Education Leadership* 32(1), 3-16.
- Antonucci, M. (2021, April 28). *Analysis: Last year's polls showed teachers were thinking about quitting. This year, evidence suggests COVID-19 had little effect on their job retention.*The 74 Million. https://www.the74million.org/article/analysis-last-years-polls-showed-teachers-were-thinking- about-quitting-this-year-evidence-suggests-covid-19-had-little-effect-on-their-job-retention/
- Arizona Department of Education (AZDOE). (2015). Educator retention and recruitment task force. (1st ed.). Phoenix. Retrieved January, 2021, from http://www.azed.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/err-initial-report-format-final.pdf
- Barnes, G., Crowe, E., & Schaefer, B. (2007). The costs of turnover in five districts. A pilot study. Washington, DC: National Commission on Teaching and America's Future.
- Bebell, D., E. Stemler, S., & Heimler, D. (2020). An analysis of high school mission statements in Massachusetts from 2001 to 2019. *Journal of Education & Social Policy*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.30845/jesp.v7n2p1
- Bota, O. A. (2013). Job satisfaction of teachers. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 83, 634–638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.120

- Bottiani, J. H., Duran, C. A. K., Pas, E. T., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019). Teacher stress and burnout in urban middle schools: Associations with job demands, resources, and effective classroom practices. *Journal of School Psychology*, 77, 36–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.10.002
- Boyd, D., Grossman, P., Ing, M., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2011). The influence of school administrators on teacher retention decisions. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(2), 303–333. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831210380788
- Brazer, S.D., Bauer, S.C. & Johnson, B.L. (2019). *Leading schools to learn, grown and thrive: Using theory to strengthen practice.* New York. Routledge.
- Brill, S., & McCartney, A. (2008). Stopping the revolving door: Increasing teacher retention.

 *Politics & Policy, 36(5), 750–774. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-1346.2008.00133.x
- Buettner, Jeon, L., Hur, E., & Garcia, R. E. (2016). Teachers' social-emotional capacity: Factors associated with teachers' responsiveness and professional commitment. *Early Education and Development*, 27(7), 1018–1039. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2016.1168227
- Burke, P. F., Schuck, S., Aubusson, P., Buchanan, J., Louviere, J. J., & Prescott, A. (2013). Why do early career teachers choose to remain in the profession? The use of best–worst scaling to quantify key factors. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 62, 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2013.05.001
- Burkhauser, S. (2017). How Much Do School Principals Matter When It Comes to Teacher Working Conditions? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 39(1), 126–145.
- Bushweller, K. (2022, May 17). What the massive shift to 1-to-1 computing means for schools, in charts. Education Week. Retrieved March 14, 2023, from

- https://www.edweek.org/technology/what-the-massive-shift-to-1-to-1-computing-means-for-schools-in-charts/2022/05
- Carver-Thomas, Desiree, and Linda Darling-Hammond. (2017). *Teacher Turnover: Why It Matters and What We Can Do About It*. Learning Policy Institute, August 2017.
- Carver-Thomas, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). The trouble with teacher turnover: How teacher attrition affects students and schools. Education Policy Analysis Archives, 27(36). http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.3699
- Cater, J. (2017). Whither teacher education and training? hepi. Retrieved September 20, 2022, from https://www.hepi.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Embargoed-until-00.01am-Thursday-27-April-2017-WHITHER-TEACHER-EDUCATION-AND-TRAINING-Report-95-19_04_17WEB.pdf
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement. (2022a). February 2022: Supply & Demand Update cerra.org. Supply and Demand. Retrieved April 11, 2022, from https://www.cerra.org/uploads/1/7/6/8/17684955/february2022_supply_demand_update_1_.pdf
- Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement. (2022b). *South Carolina Annual Educator Supply and Demand Tables 2022-23*. Supply and Demand. Retrieved March 13, 2023, from

 https://www.cerra.org/uploads/1/7/6/8/17684955/supply___demand_data_tables_2022-23.pdf
- Chan, M., Sharkey, J. D., Lawrie, S. I., Arch, D. A., & Nylund-Gibson, K. (2021). Elementary School teacher well-being and supportive measures amid covid-19: An exploratory study. School Psychology, 36(6), 533–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000441

- Charmaz, K. (2014). *Constructing Grounded Theory*. (2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry and research method: Choosing among five approaches (2nd. ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. L. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Creswell, J. L., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches.* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Darden, A. J. (2022). Investigating the Most Valued Components of the South Carolina Teaching Fellows Program by Graduates Who Have Remained in the Education Profession (Order No. 29169063). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2803168819). http://login.library.coastal.edu:2048/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/investigating-most-valued-components-south/docview/2803168819/se-2
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Youngs, P. (2002). Defining "highly qualified teachers": What does "scientifically-based research" actually tell us? *Educational Researcher*, *31*(9), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X031009013
- Denzin, N.K. (2009). The Research Act: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Methods (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315134543
- Dickenson, T., Hodges, T., Kunz, G., & Garrett, J. (2021). Exploring the Uniformity of South

 Carolina Teacher Vacancies: Policy and Practice Implications for Addressing the Teacher

 Shortage in South Carolina. Teacher Retention. Retrieved April 7, 2022, from https://sc-teacher.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/SC-T-Vacancy-paper_FINAL.pdf

- Dickenson, T., Fan, X., Pan, F., Kunz, G., Hodges, T., (2020). *Profile Of The South Carolina Teacher Workforce For 2018-2019*. Demographics. Retrieved February 26, 2023, from https://sc-teacher.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/WP-1-Demographics_FS_FINAL.pdf
- Diliberti, M. K., Schwartz, H. L., & Grant, D. (2021). Stress topped the reasons why public school teachers quit, even before COVID-19. RAND Corporation Research Reports.

 Retrieved October 30, 2022, from

 https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA1100/RRA1121-2/RAND_RRA1121-2.pdf
- Di Domenico, S. I., & Ryan, R. M. (2017, March 24). The emerging neuroscience of Intrinsic Motivation: A new frontier in self-determination research. Frontiers in human neuroscience. Retrieved November 6, 2022, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5364176/#:~:text=Intrinsic%20motivation %20refers%20to%20the,it%20interesting%20and%20inherently%20satisfying.
- Doan, S., Greer, L., Schwartz, H. L., Steiner, E., & Woo, A. (2022). State of the American teacher and state of the American principal surveys. Retrieved October 25, 2022, from https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RRA1100/RRA1108-3/RAND_RRA1108-3.pdf
- Donaldson, M. L., Mavrogordato, M., Youngs, P., Dougherty, S., & Al Ghanem, R. (2021). "Doing the 'Real' Work": How Superintendents' Sensemaking Shapes Principal Evaluation Policies and Practices in School Districts. *AERA Open*, 7(1).
- Dove, M. K. (2004). Teacher Attrition: A Critical American and International Education Issue. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 71(1), 8–30.

- Duan, Wu, S. J., & Sun, L. (2017). Do the Powerful Discount the Future Less? The Effects of Power on Temporal Discounting. Frontiers in Psychology, 8, 1007–1007. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01007
- Dufour, R. (2006). What Is a "Professional Learning Community"? Big Idea # 1: Ensuring That Students Learn. *Communities*, 1–6.
- Evers, A. T., van der Heijden, B. I., Kreijns, K., & Vermeulen, M. (2015). Job demands, job resources, and flexible competence. *Journal of Career Development*, *43*(3), 227–243. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845315597473
- Evers, K.E., Castle, P.H., Prochaska, J.O. & Prochaska, J.M. (2014). Examining relationships between multiple health risk behaviours, well-being and productivity. *Psychological Reports*, *114*(3): 843–853. https://doi.org/10.2466/13.01.PR0.114k25w4.
- Farber, K. (2015). Why great teachers quit: And how we might stop the exodus. Skyhorse Publishing.
- Field, A. (2018). *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Fimian, M. J. (1984a). Teacher Stress Inventory--Revised. *PsycTESTS*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t10126-000
- Fimian, M. J. (1984b). The development of an instrument to measure occupational stress in teachers: The Teacher Stress Inventory. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, *57*(4), 277–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1984.tb00169.x
- Fitchett, P.G., McCarthy, C.J., Lambert, R.G., Eyal, M., Playfair, E.C., & Dillard, J.B., (2021). Examining teacher stress-vulnerability in the US secondary school context. *Educational Review*, 73(2), 170-193, DOI: 10.1080/00131911.2019.1619521

- Gallery, M.E., Eisenbach, J.J., & Holman, J. (1981). Burnout: A critical appraisal of proposed intervention strategies. [Unpublished manuscript.] Department of Education, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, Michigan.
- Gallup, I. (2022, August 5). *State of the global workplace report*. Workplace. Retrieved September 20, 2022, from https://www.gallup.com/workplace/349484/state-of-the-global-workplace.aspx
- García, E., & Weiss, E. (2019, March 26). The teacher shortage is real, large and growing, and worse than we thought: The first report in 'The perfect storm in the teacher labor market' series. Economic Policy Institute. Retrieved October 7, 2022, from https://www.epi.org/publication/the-teacher-shortage-is-real-large-and-growing-and-worse-than-we-thought-the-first-report-in-the-perfect-storm-in-the-teacher-labor-market-series/
- Garrett, J. (2021). South Carolina Annual Educator Supply & Demand Report CERRA. Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement (CERRA). Retrieved November 15, 2022, from https://www.cerra.org/uploads/1/7/6/8/17684955/2021-22_supply_demand_report__1_pdf
- Ge, J., Smyth, R. E., Searle, M., Kirkpatrick, L., Evans, R., Elder, A., & Brown, H. (2021).

 Perspectives from Students: How to Tame the Chaos and Harness the Power of

 Technology for Learning. *Brock Education: A Journal of Educational Research and*Practice, 30(1), 74–94.
- Geiger, T., & Pivovarova, M. (2018). The effects of working conditions on teacher retention.

 Teachers and Teaching, 24(6), 604–625. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1457524

- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (2012). *The discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for qualitative research*. AldineTransaction.
- Greiner, & Smith, B. (2006). Determining the effect of selected variables on teacher retention. *Education*, *126*(4), 653–659.
- Grissom, J. A., & Condon, L. (2021). Leading Schools and Districts in Times of Crisis. *Educational Researcher*, 50(5), 315–324. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X211023112
- Guarino, C. M., Santibañez, L., & Daley, G. A. (2006). Teacher recruitment and retention: A review of the recent empirical literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(2), 173–208. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076002173
- Hallam, P. R., Smith, H. R., Hite, J. M., Hite, S. J., & Wilcox, B. R. (2015). Trust and
 Collaboration in PLC Teams: Teacher Relationships, Principal Support, and Collaborative
 Benefits. NASSP Bulletin, 99(3), 193–216. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636515602330
- Haydon, T., Stevens, D., & Leko, M. M. (2018). Teacher Stress: Sources, Effects, and Protective Factors. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, *31*(2), 99–107.
- Helmke, S. (2020). We Will Be Different: Let's start now to build teachers' resilience to bounce back after crisis. *Learning Professional*, 41(3), 46–49.
- Herman, K. C., Reinke, W. M., & Eddy, C. L. (2020). Advances in understanding and intervening in teacher stress and coping: The coping-competence-context theory. *Journal of School Psychology*, 78, 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2020.01.001
- Herman, K.C., Sebastian, J., Reinke, W. M., & Huang, F. L. (2021). Individual and school predictors of teacher stress, coping, and wellness during the COVID-19 pandemic. *School Psychology*, *36*(6), 483–493. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000456

- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B. and Snyderman, B. (1959). *The Motivation to Work*. 2nd Edition, John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 20, 141-147.
- Hester, O.R., Bridges, S. A., & Rollins, L. H. (2020). Overworked and underappreciated: Special education teachers describe stress and attrition. *Teacher Development*, 24(3), 348–365. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2020.1767189
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., & Bond, A. (2020). *The Difference Between Emergency Remote Teaching and Online Learning*. EDUCAUSE Review. Retrieved April 11, 2022, from https://scirp.org/reference/referencespapers.aspx?referenceid=3026888
- Huck, C., & Zhang, J. (2021). Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on K-12 education: A systematic literature review. New Waves-Educational Research and Development Journal, 24(1), 53–84.
- Hughes, G.D. (2012). Teacher retention: Teacher characteristics, school characteristics, organizational characteristics, and teacher efficacy. *Journal of Educational Research*, 105(4), 245–255. doi:10.1080/00220671.2011.584922
- Iancu, Rusu, A., Măroiu, C., Păcurar, R., & Maricuțoiu, L. P. (2018). The effectiveness of interventions aimed at reducing teacher burnout: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30(2), 373–396. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9420-8
- Ingersoll, R., Merrill, L., & Stuckey, D. (2014). Seven trends: The transformation of the teaching force. Updated April 2014. CPRE Report # RR-80. Philadelphia, PA: Consortium for Policy Research in Education.
- Jackson, L. & Rothmann, S. (2005). Work-related wellbeing of educators in a district of the North-West Province. *Perspectives in Education*, 23(3), 107–122.

- Ingersoll, R. M. (2001). Teacher turnover and teacher shortages: An organizational analysis.

 *American Educational Research Journal, 38(3), 499-534. http://
 dx.doi.org/10.3102/00028312038003499.
- Jeon, Buettner, C. K., & Grant, A. A. (2018). Early childhood teachers' psychological well-being: exploring potential predictors of depression, stress, and emotional exhaustion. *Early Education and Development*, 29(1), 53–69.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2017.1341806
- Jepson, E., & Forrest, S. (2006). Individual contributory factors in teacher stress: The role of achievement striving and occupational commitment. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(1), 183–197. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X37299
- Jex, S. M. (1998). Stress and job performance: Theory, research, and implications for managerial practice. Sage Publications Ltd.
- Kaden, U. (2020). COVID-19 school closure-related changes to the professional life of a K–12 teacher. *Education Sciences*, 10(6), 165-177. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10060165
- Kaplan, L. S., & Owings, W. A. (2004). Introduction to Special Issue: Teacher

 Effectiveness. *NASSP Bulletin*, 88(638), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1177/019263650408863801
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R. L. (1978). The social psychology of organizations. (2nd ed.). New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Karasek, R. A. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude and mental strain: Implications for job design. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24, 285-308.
- Kersaint, G., Lewis, J., Potter, R., & Meisels, G. (2007). Why teachers leave: Factors that influence retention and resignation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(2007), 775-794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2005.12.004

- Kelly, S., & Northrop, L. (2015). Early career outcomes for the "best and the brightest."

 American Educational Research Journal, 52(4), 624–656.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831215587352
- Kern, M., Waters, L., Adler, A. & White, M. (2014). Assessing employee wellbeing in schools using a multifaceted approach: Associations with physical health life satisfaction and professional thriving. *Psychology*, 5(6): 500–513.
 https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2014.56060
- Kober, N., Rentner, D. S., & Ferguson, M. (2020). *History and evolution of public education in the US*. Retrieved October 17, 2022, from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED606970.pdf
- Kokkinos, C.M., Panayiotou, G., & Davazogou, A.M. (2005). Correlates of teacher appraisals of student behaviors. *Psychology in the Schools*, 42(1), 79-89. doi:10.1002/pits.20031
- Kozakowski, W., Gill, B., & Shiferaw, M. (2021). Exploring the Potential Role of Staff Surveys in School Leader Evaluation. REL 2021-117. In *Regional Educational Laboratory Mid-Atlantic*. Regional Educational Laboratory Mid-Atlantic.
- Kukla-Acevedo, S. (2009). Leavers, movers, and stayers: The role of workplace conditions in teacher mobility decisions. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *102*(6), 443–452. https://doi.org/10.3200/joer.102.6.443-452
- Kuoppala, J., Lamminpää, A., Liira, J. & Vainio, H. 2008. Leadership, job well-being and health effects: A systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Journal of Environmental Medicine*, 50(8): 904–915. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.0b013e31817e918d
- Kyriacou, C. (2001). Teacher stress: Directions for future research. *Educational Review*, *53*(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131910120033628

- Ladd. (2011). Teachers' perceptions of their working conditions: How predictive of planned and actual teacher movement? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *33*(2), 235–261. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711398128
- LaTronica-Herb, A., & Karalis Noel, T. (2022). Identity, agency, parenthood, and balance:

 Examining influential factors on former practitioners' decisions to leave P12 education.

 International Journal of Educational Research Open, 3, 100172.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2022.100172
- Lambersky, J. (2016). Understanding the Human Side of School Leadership: Principals' Impact on Teachers' Morale, Self-Efficacy, Stress, and Commitment. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, *15*(4), 379–405.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. Springer.
- Liu, S., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2012). Chinese teachers' work stress and their turnover intention.

 International Journal of Educational Research, 53, 160-170.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2012.03.006
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The nature and causes of job satisfaction. In M. D. Dunette (Ed.), Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology. Chicago: RandMcNally
- Madigan, & Kim, L. E. (2021). Towards an understanding of teacher attrition: A meta-analysis of burnout, job satisfaction, and teachers' intentions to quit. Teaching and Teacher Education, 105, 103425—. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103425
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 2(2), 99–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030020205
- Mathison, S. (1988). Why triangulate? *Educational Researcher*, *17*, 13–17. doi:10.3102/0013189X017002013

- McCarthy, C. J., Lambert, R. G., & Reiser, J. (2014). Vocational concerns of elementary teachers: Stress, job satisfaction, and occupational commitment. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, *51*(2), 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2014.00042.x
- McGrath, J. E. (1987). Stress and behavior in organizations. In M. Dunnette (Ed.),

 Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology. Chicago: Rand McNally.
- McGrath & Van Bergen, P. (2015). Who, when, why and to what end? Students at risk of negative student–teacher relationships and their outcomes. *Educational Research Review*, *14*(February 2015), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2014.12.001
- McVey, K. P., & Trinidad, J. (2019). *Nuance in the noise: The complex reality of teacher shortages*. Publications. Retrieved April 11, 2022, from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=the&pg=75&id=ED596444
- Mitra, D. (2011). *Pennsylvania's BEST investment: The Social and Economic Benefits of public education*. Retrieved October 17, 2022, from https://www.elc-pa.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/06/BestInvestment_Full_Report_6.27.11.pdf
- Moganthaler, L. (2020, August 10). Start smart: Reopening school after covid learning loss.

 White papers. Retrieved April 5, 2022, from

 https://www.edmentum.com/resources/white-papers/start-smart-reopening-school-after-covid-learning-loss
- Morse, J. M. (1991). Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation.

 Nursing Research, 40, 120-123.
- Mulvahill, E. (2022, April 15). *Why teachers quit*. We Are Teachers. Retrieved October 24, 2022, from https://www.weareteachers.com/why-teachers-quit/

- National Center for Education Statistics (2020). Characteristics of public school teachers.

 Retrieved February 26, 2023 from:

 https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator_clr.asp
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2022). Teachers Threatened With Injury or Physically Attacked by Students. *Condition of Education*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved October 25, 2022, from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/a05.
- National Commission on Teaching, A. F. N. Y. N. (2007). The High Cost of Teacher Turnover.

 Policy Brief. *National Commission on Teaching and America's Future*.
- Oberle, E., & Schonert-Reichl, K. A. (2016). Stress contagion in the classroom? The link between classroom teacher burnout and morning cortisol in elementary school students.

 Social Science & Medicine, 159, 30–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.04.031
- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Collins, K. (2007). A typology of mixed methods sampling designs in social science research. *The Qualitative Report*. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2007.1638
- Orange, A. (2020). Teachers' Experiences with Bullying and Mistreatment in Their Workplaces. *AERA Online Paper Repository*.
- Owens, J. K., & Hudson, A. K. (2021). Prioritizing teacher emotions: Shifting teacher training to a digital environment. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 69(1), 59–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09921-y
- Perryman, J., & Calvert, G. (2019). What motivates people to teach, and why do they leave? Accountability, performativity and teacher retention. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 68(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2019.1589417

- Pirtle, S., & Tobia, E. (2014). Implementing effective professional learning communities. *SEDL Insights*, 2(3). https://sedl.org/insights/2-3/
- Pressley, T., Ha, C., & Learn, E. (2021). Teacher stress and anxiety during COVID-19: An empirical study. *School Psychology*, *36*(5), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000468
- Prilleltensky, I., Neff, M., & Bessell, A. (2016). Teacher stress: What it is, why it's important, how it can be alleviated. *Theory Into Practice*, 55(2), 104–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2016.1148986
- Pyhalto, K., Pietarinen, J., & Soini, T. (2015). Teachers' professional agency and learning- From adaption to active modification in the teacher community. *Teachers and Learning*, 21(7), 811-830. doi:10.1080/13540602.2014.995483
- Ramos, G., & Hughes, T. (2020). Could more holistic policy addressing classroom discipline help mitigate teacher attrition? *E-Journal of Education Policy*, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.37803/ejeps2002
- Reeves, D.B., (2014). *The case against the zero*. Phi Delta Kappan, 86(4). https://doi.org/10.177/0031172170408600418
- Richards, K. A., Levesque-Bristol, C., Templin, T. J., & Graber, K. C. (2016). The impact of resilience on role stressors and burnout in elementary and secondary teachers. *Social Psychology of Education*, *19*(3), 511–536. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-016-9346-x
- Riley, D. (2007). Educational Technology and Practice: Types and Timescales of Change. *Educational Technology & Society*, 10(1), 85–93.
- Rinke, C. R. (2013). Teaching as exploration? The difficult road out of the classroom. *Teaching* and *Teacher Education*, *34*, 98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.04.005

- Ronfeldt, M., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2013). How teacher turnover harms student achievement.

 *American Educational Research Journal 50(1), 4–36.
- Rosenberg, D., & Anderson, T. (2021). *Teacher turnover before, during, and after COVID*.

 Education resource strategies. Retrieved October 18, 2022, from

 https://www.erstrategies.org/cms/files/4773-teacher-turnover-paper.pdf
- Ryan, S. V., von der Embse, N. P., Pendergast, L. L., Saeki, E., Segool, N., & Schwing, S. (2017). Leaving the teaching profession: The role of teacher stress and educational accountability policies on turnover intent. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 66, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.03.016
- Saeki, E., Segool, N., Pendergast, L., & Embse, N. (2018). The influence of test-based accountability policies on early elementary teachers: School climate, environmental stress, and teacher stress. *Psychology in the Schools*, *55*(4), 391–403. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22112
- Salmona, M., Lieber, E., & Kaczynski, D. (2019). Qualitative and mixed methods data analysis using Dedoose: A practical approach for research across the social sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Santoro, D. A. (2018). Demoralized: Why teachers leave the profession they love and how they can stay. Harvard Education Press.
- Scott W. R. & Davis G. F. (2007). Organizations and organizing: Rational, natural, and open systems perspectives. Prentice Hall.
- Serviss, J. (2021, May 13). *4 benefits of an active professional learning community*. ISTE.

 Retrieved October 30, 2022, from https://www.iste.org/explore/professional-development/4-benefits-active-professional-learning-community

- Seyle, D. C., Widyatmoko, C. S., & Silver, R. C. (2013). Coping with natural disasters in Yogyakarta, Indonesia: A study of elementary school teachers. *School Psychology International*, *34*(4), 387–404. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034312446889
- Sharifian, M. S., & Kennedy, P. (2019). Teachers in war zone education: Literature review and implications. *International Journal of the Whole Child*, 4(2), 0–26.
- Shuls, J. V., & Flores, J. M. (2020). Improving Teacher Retention through Support and Development. *Journal of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies*, 4(1).
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2015). Teacher stress and teacher self-efficacy as predictors of engagement, emotional exhaustion, and motivation to leave the teaching profession.

 Creative Education, 7(13), 1785–1799. https://doi.org/10.4236/ce.2016.713182
- Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalivik, S. (2017). Still motivated to teach? A study of school context variables, stress and job satisfaction among teachers in senior high school. *Social Psychology of Education*, 20, 15–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-016-9363-9
- Socol, A. R., & Metz, R. (2017). *Tackling Gaps in Access to Strong Teachers*. Retrieved from https://edtrust.org/resource/tackling-gaps-access-strong-teachers/.
- South Carolina Department of Education. (n.d.). *Principal evaluation*. Retrieved March 26, 2023, from https://ed.sc.gov/educators/school-and-district-administrators/principal-evaluation/
- Sutcher, L., Darling-Hammond, L., & Carver-Thomas, D. (2016). A coming crisis in teaching?

 Teacher supply, demand, and shortages in the U.S. Learning Policy Institute. Retrieved

 September 16, 2022, from https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/coming-crisis-teaching

- Sutcher, L., Darling-Hammond, L., & Carver-Thomas, D. (2019). Understanding teacher shortages: An analysis of teacher supply and demand in the United States. Education Policy Analysis Archives, 27(35). http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.3696
- Thong, J., & Yap, C.S. (2000). Information systems and occupational stress: a theoretical framework. *Omega*, 28(6), 681–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-0483(00)00020-7
- Thornberg, R. (2012). Informed grounded theory. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 56(3), 243-259. DOI: 10.1080/00313831.2011.581686
- Thorpe, K., Jansen, E., Sullivan, V., Irvine, S., & McDonald, P. (2020). Identifying predictors of retention and professional wellbeing of the early childhood education workforce in a time of change. *Journal of Educational Change*, 21(4), 623–647.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-020-09382-3
- Toropova, A., Myrberg, E., & Johansson, S. (2020). Teacher job satisfaction: The importance of school working conditions and teacher characteristics. *Educational Review*, 73(1), 71–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1705247
- Tschannen-Moran, Meagan. (2014). Trust matters: Leadership for successful schools. In *Trust matters: Leadership for successful schools* (pp. 42–69). Corwin. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com
- Turel, Y. K., & Dokumaci, O.(2022). Use of media and technology, academic procrastination, and academic achievement in adolescence. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(2), 481–497. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.50.9.2
- Tye, B. B., & O'Brien, L. (2002). Why are experienced teachers leaving the profession? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 84(1), 24–32.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). Geographic Levels. Census.gov. Retrieved January 1, 2023, from

- https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/economic-census/guidance-geographies/levels.html
- Von Der Embse, N. P., Sandilos, L. E., Pendergast, L., & Mankin, A. (2016). A mediation analysis of teacher stress, self-efficacy, and job satisfaction. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 50, 308-317.
- Wells, M.B. (2015). Predicting preschool teacher retention and turnover in newly hired Head Start teachers across the first half of the school year. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *30*, 152-159. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.10.003
- Weinstein, T. L., & Trickett, E. J. (2016). The development of an instrument to measure English

 Language Learner (ELL) teacher work stress. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, 55, 24–32.

 https://doi.org/10.10
- Will, M. (2022). Fewer people are getting teacher degrees. Prep programs sound the alarm.

 Teacher preparation. Retrieved September 10, 2022, from

 https://www.edweek.org/teaching-learning/fewer-people-are-getting-teacher-degrees-prep-programs-sound-the-alarm/2022/03
- Williams, S. M., Swain, W. A., & Graham, J. A. (2021). Race, climate, and turnover: An examination of the teacher labor market in rural Georgia. *AERA Open*, 7, 233285842199551. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858421995514
- World Health Organization. (2019). Burn-out an "Occupational phenomenon": International Classification of Diseases. World Health Organization. Retrieved September 20, 2022, from https://www.who.int/news/item/28-05-2019-burn-out-an-occupational-phenomenon-international-classification-of-diseases

Zamarro, G., Camp, A., Fuchsman, D., & McGee, J. (2022). Understanding how COVID-19 has changed teachers' chances of remaining in the classroom. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4047354

Appendix A

Organization Approval Letter



December 13, 2022

Teresa Gibbons has permission to distribute her research survey to the members of Palmetto State Teachers Association for the purpose of gathering information. If you have any further questions, please feel free to contact me at tchewning@palmettoteachers.org or 803-256-2065.

Thank you,

Toni Chewning, M.Ed, NBCT Director of Association Activities Palmetto State Teachers Association

Appendix B

Teacher Stress Survey

Workplace Factors and Teacher Attrition

You are being invited to participate in a research study titled Workplace Environmental Factors That Contribute to Teacher Attrition. This study is being done by Teresa Gibbons a Ph.D. candidate at Coastal Carolina University.

You were selected to participate in this study because you currently teach in a South Carolina public K-12 school.

The purpose of this research study is to determine how specific environmental factors such as workload, motivation (intrinsic and extrinsic), student concerns, administrative support, professional investment, personal health, and job satisfaction contribute to teacher intention to leave the profession and/or attrition.

If you agree to take part in this study, you will be asked to complete an online survey/questionnaire. This survey/questionnaire will ask about perceived stress levels as related to different workplace environmental factors, and it will take you approximately 15-30 minutes to complete.

During this research study, no risks or discomforts are anticipated.

Unless you provide consent to the contrary, the confidentiality of your participation in this research study, your responses or any individual results will be maintained by the researcher.

Note that confidentiality will only be violated when required by law or the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association. This usually includes, but may not be limited to, situations when your responses indicate that you, or another clearly identified individual, is at risk of imminent harm or situations in which faculty are mandated reporters, such as instances of child abuse or issues covered under Title IX regulations. For more information about Title IX, please see the University's webpage at: https://www.coastal.edu/titleix/.

Your participation in this survey, and all responses you give, are anonymous.

The data collected for this study will be stored until January 2028. Results of this study, not any individual responses, may be shared through class presentation, dissertation publication, and or conference presentations, etc.

You do not have to agree to participate in this research study. If you do choose to participate, you

may choose not to at any time once the study begins by simply closing out of the survey. There is no penalty for not participating or withdrawing from the study at any time.

If you have any questions about this research study, please feel free to contact me by phone 803-397-5154 or tgibbons@coastal.edu.

My faculty advisor on this study is Anthony Setari and he can also be contacted by phone 843-349-2112 or email asetari@coastal.edu.

The Institutional Review Board (IRB) under the Office of Sponsored Programs and Research Services is responsible for the oversight of all human subject research conducted at Coastal Carolina University. If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant before, during or after the research study, you may contact this office by calling (843) 349-2978 or emailing OSPRS@coastal.edu.

This research study has been approved by the IRB on December 19, 2022. This approval will expire on December 18, 2023 unless the IRB renews the approval prior to this date.

Consent

By clicking next below you are indicating that you are at least 18 years old, have read this consent form and agree to participate in this research study. You are free to skip any question that you choose. Please print a copy of this page for your records.

Please identify those environmental factors which cause you stress in your present position. Read each statement carefully and decide if you ever feel this way about your job. Then, indicate how strong the feeling is when you experience it by circling the appropriate rating on the 5-point scale. If you have not experienced this feeling, or if the item is inappropriate for your position, circle number 1 (no strength; not noticeable). The rating scale is shown at the top of each page.

Response Scale Description

Strength of	1	2	3	4	5
Feeling of	No strength;	Mild	Medium	Great	Major
Stress	not	strength;	strength;	strength;	strength;

noticeable or	barely	moderately	very	extremely
N/A	noticeable	noticeable	noticeable	noticeable

Examples:

I feel insufficiently prepared for my job. 1 2 3 4 5

If you feel very strongly that you are insufficiently prepared for your job, you would circle number 5.

I feel that if I step back in either effort or commitment, 1 2 3 4 5

I may be seen as less competent.

If you never feel this way, and the feeling does not have noticeable strength, you would circle number 1.

Work Load Stressors					
There is little time to prepare for my	1	2	3	4	5
lessons/responsibilities (RQ2) (F)					
There is too much work to do (RQ2) (F)	1	2	3	4	5
Administrative or non-instructional related	1	2	3	4	5
tasks take up too much of my time (RQ2)					
I am able to keep a work/home life balance	1	2	3	4	5
(RQ2)					
I must often take work home or stay late;	1	2	3	4	5
taking time away from personal life/family					
(RQ2)					
Motivation					
I lack recognition for the extra work and/or	1	2	3	4	5
good teaching I do (RQ1) (F)					
I receive an adequate salary for the work I do	1	2	3	4	5
(RQ1) (F)					

	1					
I need more status and respect on my job	1	2	3	4	5	
(RQ1) (F)						
Student Stressors						
I feel frustrated because of discipline	1	2	3	4	5	
problems in my classroom (RQ2) (F)						
I feel frustrated when my authority is	1	2	3	4	5	
rejected by students (RQ2) (F)						
I feel frustrated attempting to teach students	1	2	3	4	5	
who are poorly motivated (RQ2) (F)						
(e. (=) (e)						
I have felt disrespected or intimidated by my	1	2	3	4	5	
students (RQ2)		_		·		
statems (TQ2)						
Administrative Support						
I feel frustrated that I am not supported by	1	2	3	4	5	
administration regarding student discipline		_	J	•	J	
(RQ2)						
I feel that administrative support makes me	1	2	3	4	5	
1	1	2	3	4	3	
more effective in the classroom (RQ2)						
Administrators make sure I have the	1	2	3	4	5	
	1	2	3	7	3	
resources (materials, technology, etc.) I need						
to be successful in the classroom (RQ2)	1		2			
My administration provides relevant and	1	2	3	4	5	
timely professional development to support						
my instructional needs (RQ2)						
Professional Investment						
I lack control over decisions made about	1	2	3	4	5	
classroom/school matters (RQ2) (F)						
I feel frustrated when my personal opinions	1	2	3	4	5	
are not valued (RQ2)						
I fear administrative retribution for openly	1	2	3	4	5	
expressing concerns about issues in my						
school (RQ2)						
I have felt intimidated by my principal or	1	2	3	4	5	
member of the administrative team (RQ2)						
	1					

Downwal Hoolth						
Personal Health	1		2	4		
I feel valued as a person by administration	1	2	3	4	5	
(RQ2)(RQ1)						
My job causes me anxiety regularly (RQ2)	1	2	3	4	5	
I am given adequate time to take care of my	1	2	3	4	5	
personal needs during the day (RQ2)						
personal needs during the day (11(2))						
My principal is sympathetic to my personal	1	2	3	4	5	
	1	2	3	4	3	
(emotional/physical) needs (RQ2)						
Joh Catisfaction						
Job Satisfaction	1			4		
My job is satisfying (RQ2)(RQ1)	1	2	3	4	5	
30. The culture in my school is positive and	1	2	3	4	5	
supportive (RQ2)(RQ1)						
31. I collaborate with and value my	1	2	3	4	5	
coworkers (RQ2)(RQ1)						
(1.6.)						
COVID-19						
Teacher workload has increased as compared	1	2	3	4	5	
to workload prior to COVID-19 (RQ2)						
to workload prior to covid 15 (RQ2)						
The amount of administrative paperwork or	1	2	3	4	5	
	1	2	3	4	3	
other non-instructional duties has increased						
since COVID-19 (RQ2)						
	1					
Technology demands have increased since	1	2	3	4	5	
COVID-19 (RQ2)						
On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be	1 2	3 4	5 6 7	7 8 9	10	
teaching in the next 3 years (RQ3)	1- definitely not going to be teaching					
<i>6</i>						
	10- definitely will be teaching in three				ing in three years	
Have you actively looked for enother ich?	Yes No					
Have you actively looked for another job?	1 es	INO				

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Workload ...
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O

 Lack of re...
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O

 Student be...
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O

 Administr...
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O
 O

Please rank workplace environmental factors in order from most stressful (7) to least stressful (1).

On a scale of 1-10, how likely are you to be teaching in the next three years? 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10

Have you actively looked for another job in the last year? Yes or No

Open ended response:

Lack of in...

Physical/e...

Job satisf...

Please provide examples of your top 3 stressors. (Ex. If lack of input or decision making was one of the top 3 most stressful environmental factors, give a specific example(s) of a time when your lack of ability to be a part of the decision-making process resulted in stress for you.)

Describe the effect COVID-19 has had on the amount of stress in your job. (Provide a specific example if possible)

Demographic Variables

Gender: male/female

Is your school a High Needs School (HNS)? Yes or No ["HNS serve disproportionate numbers of students with disabilities, economic disadvantages, or other obstacles to their education" (Ansley et al., 2019)].

How would you describe your school (rural, suburban, urban)

Number of years you have taught: 1-3, 4-5, 5-10, 11-15, 16-20, 21-25, 26-30, 31-39, 40+

Your age: 22-25, 26-30, 31-35, 35-40, 41-45, 46-50, 51-55, 56-60, 60+

Are you currently employed as a K-12 public school teacher in South Carolina?

Grade level you teach: K-2, 3-5, 6-8, 9-12

Subject area you teach (if applicable): N/A, teach all subjects, English, Math, Social Studies, Science, Performing or visual arts, PE, SPED, Other

APPENDIX C

Likert Response Frequencies (N=60)

	1=		2=		3=		4=		5=	
	No	No		Mild		Madina				
			Mild		Medium		Great (moderate)		Major	
	_	strength;		strength;		strength;		· · ·	streng	
	not		barel	·	modera	•	streng	· ·	extrem	•
	noticeal		noticea	ble	noticea	ble	ver	-	noticea	ible
	or N/A						noticeable			
Workload	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
There is little time to	7	11.7	9	15.0	17	28.3	12	20	15	25.0
prepare for my										
lessons/responsibilities										
There is too much work	0	0.0	9	15.0	11	18.3	19	31.7	21	35.0
to do										
Administrative or non-	3	5.0	9	15.0	10	16.7	14	23.3	24	40.0
instructional related										
tasks take up too much										
of my time										
I must often take work	8	13.3	13	21.7	5	8.3	14	23.3	20	33.3
home or stay late;										
taking time away from										
personal life										
COVID-19										
Teacher workload has	4	6.7	6	10.0	12	20.0	17	28.3	21	35.0
increased as compared										
to workload prior to										
COVID-19										
The amount of	4	6.7	8	13.3	15	25.0	21	35.0	12	20.0
administrative										
paperwork or other										
non-instructional										
duties has increased										
since COVID-19										
Technology demands	1	1.6	4	6.7	16	26.7	20	33.3	19	31.7
have increased since										
COVID-19										
Motivation										

I lack recognition for the extra work and/or	10	16.7	9	15.0	15	25.0	12	20.0	14	23.3
good teaching I do I receive adequate salary for the work I	8	13.3	5	8.3	10	16.7	16	26.7	21	35.0
do I need more status and respect for my job	4	6.7	9	15.0	15	25.0	13	21.6	19	31.7
Student Stressors										
I feel frustrated because of discipline problems in my classroom	2	3.3	8	13.3	10	16.7	15	25.0	25	41.7
I feel frustrated when my authority is	1	1.6	12	20.0	7	11.7	15	25.0	25	41.7
rejected by students I feel frustrated attempting to teach students who are	0	0.0	1	1.6	6	10.0	16	26.7	37	61.7
poorly motivated I have felt disrespected or intimidated by my students	12	20.0	9	15.0	13	21.7	14	23.3	12	20.0
Administrative										
Support										
I feel frustrated that I am not supported by administration regarding student discipline	6	10.0	10	16.7	13	21.6	13	21.7	18	30.0
I feel that administrators make	12	20.0	11	18.3	11	18.3	15	25.0	11	18.3
my job harder Administrators make sure I have the resources (materials, technology, etc.) I need to be successful in the classroom	16	26.7	14	23.3	12	20.0	9	15.0	9	15.0
My administration provides relevant and timey professional	13	21.7	14	23.3	16	26.7	6	10.0	10	16.7

development to support										
my instructional needs Professional										
Investment										
I lack control over decisions made about classroom/school matters	8	13.3	9	15.0	21	35.0	12	20.0	10	16.7
I feel frustrated when my personal opinions are not valued	6	10.0	5	8.3	12	20.0	14	23.3	23	38.4
I fear administrative retribution for openly expressing concerns about issues in my	15	25.0	10	16.7	12	20.0	11	18.3	12	20.0
school	20	50.0	7	117	0	12.2	2	5.0	10	20.0
I have felt intimidated by my principal or member of the	30	50.0	7	11.7	8	13.3	3	5.0	12	20.0
administrative team I collaborate with and	23	38.3	6	10.0	7	11.7	11	18.3	13	21.7
value my coworkers Personal Health										
I feel valued as a person by administration	15	25.0	10	16.7	14	23.3	10	16.7	11	18.3
My job causes me anxiety regularly	2	3.3	7	11.7	16	26.7	13	21.7	22	36.6
I am given adequate time to take care of my personal needs during the day	7	11.7	11	18.3	12	20.0	9	15.0	21	35.0
My principal is sympathetic to my personal (emotional/physical) needs	17	28.3	7	11.7	16	26.7	6	10.0	14	23.3
Job Satisfaction										
My job is satisfying	9	15.0	10	16.7	21	35.0	13	21.7	7	11.6